CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
Z = F B &= IR B/ R o |

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability RIS S MHA L 2 BRA &)
Stock Code BR#AX3E : 3893




Contents

Corporate Information

Financial Highlights

Chairman’s Statement

Profile of Directors and Senior Management
Management Discussion and Analysis
Corporate Governance Report
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements

Five-Year Financial Summary

)/

176

/
N

NAEH

MHHE

ERHEE
EEREREERRERE
EEEARRIM
ERERRE

RE HERERRSE
EEEHRE
BURBHRE
REMBHRE
BHERRME
LEMBHE



Corporate Information
REEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lau King Lok

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman (resigned with effect from 12 October 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

Mr. Shing Wai Yip (appointed with effect from 25 January 2019)

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (resigned with effect from 12 October 2018)

Mr. Tang Yu Ming (appointed with effect from 12 October 2018 and
passed away on 14 November 2018)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. So Chi Hang (Chairman)
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin
Mr. Shing Wai Yip (appointed with effect from 25 January 2019)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. So Chi Hang (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Wai Sang
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman)
Mr. So Chi Hang
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (Chairman)
Mr. So Chi Hang
Mr. Lau King Lok

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lau King Lok

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

(for the purpose of the Listing Rules)
Mr. Lee Wai Sang
Mr. Lau King Lok
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
HSBC

1 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
1 Garden Road

Central

Hong Kong

Hang Seng Bank

83 Des Voeux Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 1350

Clifton House, 75 Fort Street
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

20th Floor

625 King's Road
North Point
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law:
Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
Suite 1509, 15/F, Jardine House

1 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

As to Cayman lIslands Law:
Appleby

2206-19, Jardine House

1 Connaught Place, Central

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information
NEEFR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

BDO Limited

25th Floor

Wing On Centre

111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Estera Trust (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 1350

Clifton House

75 Fort Street

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.crosstec.com.hk

PLACE OF LISTING
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

STOCK CODE
3893
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Financial Highlights
b HES

Percentage
Year ended 30 June Change
BEAA=THLEE BAL2E
2019 2018 Y%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue LON 95,336 71,541 333
Gross Profit £ 31,263 20,190 55.0
Loss for the year FREE (9,634) (22,940) 58.1
Total Assets BEE 61,679 68,545 (10.0)
Total Equity RiEn 36,443 45,830 (20.5)
Key Financial Ratios TEHKLE
Gross profit margin EME 32.8% 28.2%
Net profit margin IR N/ATE R N/ATE
Return on equity ERER N/ATER N/ATE
Return on total assets BEEDR N/ATNEH N/A i
Current ratio B % 2.21 2.80
Quick ratio REPLL X 2.21 2.80
Gearing ratio BEARLE N/AE N/ATER
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Crosstec”), | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2019.

Review

For the year ended 30 June 2019 (the “Year”), the revenue and gross profit
of the Group were approximately HK$95.3 million and approximately
HK$31.3 million respectively, representing an increase of approximately
33.3% and 55.0%, respectively over the prior year. The Group recorded a loss
of approximately HK$9.6 million for the Year as compared to a net loss of
approximately HK$22.9 million for the prior year.

The decrease in net loss was mainly attribute to the increase in revenue and
the improvement of gross profit margin of the business segment of sale of
millwork, furniture and facade fabrication, the largest revenue contributor
of the Group, which was primarily due to the implementation of previously
delayed business strategies in relation to renovation and new shops roll out of
certain major customers of the Group during the Year.

Prospects

The Group will continue to focus on the provision of bespoke and total
interior design solutions as well as millwork and furniture provision and
facade fabrication. Going forward, the Group has been committed to actively
searching for potential business opportunities, especially in Europe from the
provision of millwork and furniture to international recognized luxury fashion,
hotel and beauty brands and the negotiation progress is satisfactory.

At the same time, the Group will keep seeking to diversify the business
and look for potential business opportunities to broaden its income sources
and establish a strong recurring income base for supporting the sustainable
development of the Group. Taking into account the Group’s rich experience
in the market of resident fit-outs business, the Group has been dedicated to
expanding the interior solutions services to mid to high end residential market
during the Year and the Group is confident that such a move is creating strong
values to the stakeholders of the Group.

Moreover, the Group is dedicated to expand its business through both organic
growth and strategic acquisitions and partnership also. Over the years, the
Group has been making efforts to solicit potential acquisition targets (which
have solid financial performance, sound business model and are in the field
of business that has synergy with the existing business of the Group) for its
ongoing strategic growth and such idea will be continued in the coming years.

Based on the blueprint for our future development to achieve long term value
growth, the Board will endeavor to maximize the interests of the Group and
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Appreciation )

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude and ~AAZRKREZESERLBHEBEMEINAFE BAS
appreciation to the management and staff for their dedication during the Year. B2 JjbAith e RATMRH AL ERORE - P - HEH
I would also like to thank the Group’s shareholders, customers, suppliers, — EBZH LBUFHMA % ERETHENE TS -
business partners and government authorities for their continued trust and

support over the years.

Lee Wai Sang TE
Chairman FERE
Hong Kong, 27 September 2019 B —E-NFENAA-TLRA
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

ESREHEEERE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of six Directors, comprising three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The following table
sets out certain information about the Directors as at the date of this annual
report:

B

EZeRBARAAESAN  BRZAUTESR=AE
UFATES - TREJINAFHRABEZ LA TER

Name

4

Age
Fir

Position

Bz

Executive Directors

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Chief Financial Officer, Executive Director and Company Secretary

Executive Director and Project Director (Business Development)

HITES

Mr. Lee Wai Sang 55

FRELE 55 IR THRRERATESR

Mr. Lau King Lok 54

el €S 54 ERMBRE HTEERAANE
Mr. Leung Pak Yin 45

REALE 4557 BOESRRELE (RBER)
Independent non-executive Directors

BUFHTES

Mr. So Chi Hang 53 Independent Non-executive Director
BEERE 535 BUFNTEZR

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin 54 Independent Non-executive Director
EEREE 545, BUGFMTES

Mr. Shing Wai Yip 51 Independent Non-executive Director
REZEE 51 BUFMTES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Zf2%) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 55, is one of the founders of the
Group and has been appointed as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”),
chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) and
an executive Director since 18 March 2016. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”). In addition, he serves as an authorised representative of the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.05 of the Rules Governing of the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Lee is responsible for managing the overall business operations and
strategic planning of the Group. He has over 25 years of experience in
the interior design industry. Prior to establishing the Group in 1999, from
1997 to 1999, Mr. Lee was the director of Cross Design Limited where he
was responsible for overseeing the interior design work streams and overall
operations of the company. From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Lee served as a senior
interior designer of Bowden Dewar McFadzean Limited, responsible for the
interior design of office premises. Between 1989 and 1991, he was as an
architect designer of Michael H.K. Wong Architects Inc., responsible for the
interior design of buildings.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

In addition to his professional experience in the industry, Mr. Lee was also
keen to share his expertise with the next-generation interior designers. Mr. Lee
was the guest speaker of the design department of Vocational Training Council
to present the topic on “Professional Practice — Tender Document” and
“Professional Practice — Project Management” on 19 January 2001 and 20
March 2001 respectively. From September 2004 to August 2005, he served as
the external examiner for the higher diploma in interior & environment design
course, the higher diploma in interior design course, and the certificate in
design studies course of the Vocational Training Council. From October 2000
to January 2001, Mr. Lee was a visiting lecturer (part-time) of the School of
Design of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Lee obtained his master of arts degree in design from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in December 1999 and received a bachelor’s degree
in interior design from the University of Manitoba in May 1989. Mr. Lee
also completed the Prince of Wales’s business & sustainability programme
designed by the University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership
in April 2018 and obtained an executive diploma in corporate governance and
sustainability directorship from The Hong Kong Institute of Directors in May
2018. In addition, he is a member of various international interior designer
professional bodies. Mr. Lee has been a certified holder of the National
Council for Interior Design Qualification in North America since April 1994,
a professional member of the American Society of Interior Designers in the
United States since March 1995, a professional member of the International
Interior Design Association in the United States since 1995, a member of the
Interior Designer of Canada in Canada since 1994 and a registered interior
designer and member of the Association of Registered Interior Designers of
Ontario in Canada since September 1989. He has also been elected as an
International Dual Member of the British Institute of Interior Design since
April 2016. Since May 2016, Mr. Lee has been fully accredited as a design
professional by the Society of British and International Design.

Mr. Lee is the spouse of Ms. Leung Mo Shan, Jackie (“Ms. Leung”), an
executive assistant of the Group and brother-in-law of Mr. Leung Pak Yin, an
executive Director. He is also a director of CGH (BVI) Limited (“CGH (BVI)”),
which is a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) and the controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing
Rules) (the “Controlling Shareholder”) of the Company.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

ESREHEEERE

Mr. Lau King Lok (2I8%%) (“Mr. Lau”), aged 54, joined the Group on 1
January 2016 and is currently the chief financial officer of the Group. He has
been appointed as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) and an executive Director since 18 March 2016. Mr. Lau also
serves as a member of the risk management committee of the Company (the
“Risk Management Committee”), authorised representative of the Company
pursuant to Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Lau is responsible for the overall management of financial of
the Group. Mr. Lau has over 25 years of experience in the accounting, auditing
and corporate finance fields. Prior to joining the Group, from October 2010
to December 2015, Mr. Lau served as the executive director of Cypress Group
of companies, where he was responsible for the group’s daily operation. From
December 1994 to August 2010, Mr. Lau served as the group finance and
administration manager, and subsequently as the chief financial officer of the
North Asia segment of the DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited (formerly known
as C Y Leung and Company), where he was responsible for the company’s
finance and treasury functions. From September 1990 to July 1994, Mr. Lau
was the division manager of accounts and administration department of P&O
Travel Limited, where he was responsible for the company’s accounting and
administration matters. From September 1987 to August 1990, Mr. Lau started
his career as an auditor in Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler (KPMG).

Mr. Lau received a master’s degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia in December 2011. He has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January 2017. Mr. Lau has been
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales since February 2005. He is also an associate member of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong since August 1998 and a certified tax adviser since
January 2013. Mr. Lau has been an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (previously known as the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants) since February 1993 and a fellow member since May
2000.

Mr. Leung Pak Yin (RMA%) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 45, joined the Group on
13 September 2006 and is a project director (business development) of the
Group. He has been appointed as an executive Director since 18 March
2016. Mr. Leung is also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Leung is responsible for client liaison and business development of the
Group. Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in sales and business
development. Prior to joining the Group, from 2004 to 2006, Mr. Leung served
as an account manager of Wharf T&T Limited, where he was responsible for
the company’s customers’ relations and sales management. Between 2001 and
2002, Mr. Leung was the business development manager of Magically Asia
Limited, where he was responsible for developing strategy and tactical plans
to drive the business, managing customer and partner relationships, handling
sales project and facilitating new product development. From 1998 to 1999,
Mr. Leung was an account manager of New World Telephone Limited, where
he was responsible for the management of sales and customers relations.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Leung received a bachelor of science degree from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 1996.

Mr. Leung is the brother-in-law of Mr. Lee and brother of Ms. Leung.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. So Chi Hang (B %&18) (“Mr. So”), aged 53, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 22 August 2016. Mr. So is also
the chairman of each of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Mr. So
is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment to the
Board. Mr. So has over 25 years of experience in finance with exposure in
Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China, Australia, Taiwan and Japan.
From October 2015 to December 2017, Mr. So has been the vice president of
project management of BSN Medical KK in Japan, where he was responsible
for guiding and monitoring the work of local outsourced accounting service
provider. Mr. So served as a business analyst consultant of STL Corp., Ltd from
May 2011 to December 2013, where he provided independent consultation
service in developing and monitoring the execution of business strategies.
He served as an associate director of KCS Management & Consultancy
(China) Co., Ltd from November 2008 to March 2011 and KCS Limited
from September 2007 to November 2008, where he supervised the account
servicing teams of the corporate accounting division. Mr. So held various
positions while he was with ACNielsen (China) Ltd from October 1997 to
April 2007 where his last position was the director of finance, where he was
responsible for the management of all finance and accounting operations.
He also served as an divisional accountant of the AFS Freight Management
Group in Australia from July 1993 to April 1997, where he was responsible
for accounting and taxation matters for the group’s non-Australian companies,
including Hong Kong and Shanghai, Papua New Guinea, New Zealand
and the United States. From April 1991 to June 1993, Mr. So served as an
accountant of AIA Capital Corporation Limited. Before that, he served as the
group accountant of Desh Group from June 1990 till 1991. Mr. So started his
career as an auditor of Coopers & Lybrand from January 1989 to June 1990.

Mr. So obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia in August 1988. He has been a certified practicing
accountant of Australian Society of CPAs since October 1993.

S@EMERAMRDLT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® @ e o o 011

ESREHEEERE

REER-ANAAF+ - ARGEANBAZENELE
i o

REERTRENNDRRLLHBE -

BYFHITES
BEEEE((HEED B BZT—R"E\AZ+Z
E#J% ERBUNITES - HALENAALAELE
e ((BERZEE) RFMEEERAZEIR RIEEE
Eﬁﬁﬂﬁ BREERANE HALAREEES
A&ﬁ§$@w BIULLIE - BETERES - RE RN
éé&%%ﬁtzsimﬁm?«%ﬁ RZZ-RFT+AZE
TRt AR MOUEETAABIN Medical KK
BA Efiﬂ_@#@ﬁ BEESREEEWI DS RGHE
BNIE-R_Z——FRAZE-_T-=F+_AHRH"
Eﬁ%i?ﬁﬁSTL Corp., Ltd MEBLMER  SERKEE
FHRBORTREBUZARE - R -FTN\F+—
ﬁE*f——ﬁ_ﬁHﬁﬁiﬁ{}ﬁﬁir@@m’a}(qzl)ﬁﬁﬁ
AINEIAE YR _TTLFNRE_TTN\F+-AH
B EKCS L|m[tedE'Jaa‘anMF - BREERREHHMANT
FREEY - #FEEE-ANEFTAZE-ZZLFNA
HERERR (PE) ARARETASERL - MRKE
BAUANBRE AE2TMBREHZENER - B
E-NWNZFtAZE- AN FRAHERNEMETAFS
Freight Management Group#) S FI & 3181 - B EZEE IR
NRE (BREERLE EhEHENE HEFRE
B)MEHIREEE - R-NAN—FRAZ-AA=FR
FIHAR - & 54 HEAIA Capital Corporation Limited#) & &t
f e bl R—ANZFRAZ-AN—F - K EDesh
Groupt KB &5t80 - HEER - N NF-AZ-NANE
FRARREEKESHMEBMNZHE  RALESX
B

R=ANNENA HELERGENRLRAZHE
B RE-NN=FTARRRENENE fﬁfﬁ"A
EESHETR



Profile of Directors and Senior Management

ESREHEEERE

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (2IEH) (“Mr. Heng”), aged 54, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 22 August 2016.
He is also the chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. Mr. Heng is responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to the Board. He has over 20 years of experience in banking and
finance. Mr. Heng was an independent non-executive director of Tse Sui Luen
Jewellery (International) Limited (stock code: 417) from November 2008 to
December 2015. Since June 2011, Mr. Heng has been the managing partner
and responsible officer of Springboard Capital Limited, an asset management
company licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
(“SFC”). Prior to that, Mr. Heng was the managing director of The Royal Bank
of Scotland Plc, Hong Kong from May 2006 to October 2008. He was a
director of HSBC Securities (Asia) Limited and held senior positions of other
HSBC group companies from June 1999 to April 2006. He has held senior
positions in several major private financial institutions in Hong Kong and
had been registered with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority as an executive
officer. He has been registered with the SFC as a responsible officer, carrying
out various regulated activities.

Mr. Heng obtained a bachelor of arts and subsequently a master of arts in June
1988 and March 1992 respectively from the University of Cambridge. He has
been a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales since December 2009 and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
since July 2009, and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Shing Wai Yip (B{2%) (“Mr. Shing”), aged 51, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since 25 January 2019. Mr. Shing is
also a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Shing has 20 years specialised
experience in hospitality industry procurement. Mr. Shing worked for
Rosewood Hotel Group in Hong Kong from 2006 to 2018 where his last
position held was corporate director of procurement, and was responsible
for driving hotel pre-opening procurement programmes, formulating strategic
plans to develop new hotel products, guiding purchasing decisions to support
the group’s branding, establishing products brand standards, establishing and
implementing the group’s contracts across the branded hotels, conducting the
hotel annual operation management review (audit) to ensure hotel purchasing
team meet with relevant purchasing policies, performance and code of ethics,
monitoring the vendor performance, analysing the purchasing data to enhance
or improve the purchasing performance, coordinating and supporting the
shareholders requirements and providing guidance to hotel purchasing team.
Mr. Shing had also worked for Furama Hotel and held procurement managerial
position.

Mr. Shing obtained a bachelor degree in business administrative management
from the University of South Australia in 2003. He is a member of The Institute
of Purchasing & Supply of Hong Kong (IPSHK).
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESREHEEERE

EREEE

The following table sets out certain information about the senior management ~ T&HIIRAFHEGASERREREABZETE
personnel of the Group as at the date of this annual report: G
Name Age Position
4 Fik B
Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie 52 Executive Assistant
REMTL 52 THEE
Mr. Tsang Kam Hung 53 Project Director (Design)
e 53 BRBEAE(R)
Mr. Cheong Ka Wang 40 Project D|rector (Project Management)
RELLE 40 ARME(ERER)
Mr. Chung Chun Leung 58 Project Director (Re-engineering)
ERREE 585 REAE(TRRHEREA)

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (25, aged 52, has been an executive assistant
of the Group since January 2016, where she is responsible for the provision
of overall administrative support to the executive management team in
daily operations including arranging and coordinating meetings, facilitating
communications between executive team and all staff. Ms. Leung has over 25
years of experience in finance. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Leung served
as the director of finance of NW Project Management Limited from May 2010
to October 2015. From June 2006 to May 2010, Ms. Leung was employed by
New World Hotel Management Limited, where her last position was director
of finance. From August 1997 to May 2006, Ms. Leung was employed by
Renaissance Harbour View Hotel, where her last position was the director
of finance. From November 1990 to August 1997, Ms. Leung was employed
by New World Hotels International Limited, where her last position was
assistant financial controller. Ms. Leung obtained a post-experience certificate
in accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1994 through
part-time learning. She has been a member and a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and June 2003, respectively
and a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since July 1998.

Ms. Leung is the spouse of Mr. Lee and sister of Mr. Leung Pak Yin, an
executive Director.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

ESREHEEERE

Mr. Tsang Kam Hung (&#838), aged 53, is a project director (design) and
has joined the Group since May 2011. Mr. Tsang is responsible for the
supervision of a design and creative team in Hong Kong and monitoring
the quality assurance of the products produced by factories in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). He also serves at the frontline to liaise with
clients for identifying their needs and giving immediate solutions, consultations
and alternatives in order to provide the right answers that meet the client
expectations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tsang began his career as
a designer at AJM Design Group Ltd. from April 1988 to January 1991.
Mr. Tsang has over 25 years of experience in the interior design industry,
including serving in the in-house design team of the corporate real estate
department of Standard Chartered Bank (HK) Limited from February 1998
to May 2008. From November 2009 to February 2011, Mr. Tsang was the
contract staff in branch management of channel management of Bank of China
(Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Tsang obtained a bachelor’s degree of fine arts in
interior design from the Pratt Institute in the United States in February 1995.

Mr. Cheong Ka Wang (3&E%), aged 40, is a project director (project
management) of the Group since January 2016 and served as a senior project
manager of the Group from July 2015 to January 2016. Mr. Cheong is
responsible to lead the project consultancy and construction team for overall
management in execution, control and completion of specific projects and
ensuring consistency with Company’s strategy, commitment and goals. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Cheong served as a director and project manager of
Paperspace Interiors Ltd. from 2011 to June 2015. From September 2006 to
September 2011, Mr. Cheong served as a project coordinator of CROSS MAX
Interiors Limited (now known as CROSSTEC Business Management Limited).
Before that, Mr. Cheong was a senior project coordinator and assistant
designer of Benson Construction & Engineering Co. Ltd. from October 2005
to September 2006. From July 2004 to October 2005, he served as a site
foreman of Bo Wing Construction Engineering Co. Ltd. Mr. Cheong graduated
from British Columbia Institute of Technology in Canada with a management
certificate of interior design in June 2003.

Mr. Chung Chun Leung (##&R), aged 58, has joined the Group as a project
director (Re-engineering) since June 2018. Mr. Chung is mainly responsible
for the deconstruction and improvement on technical details, liaison with
clients and their consultancy team on the design requirements, and monitoring
the technical difficulties which may arise during the production process in
the factory. From 1984 to 1985, Mr. Chung worked for AJM Design Group
Limited. Mr. Chung has over 30 years of working experience in the interior
design. In June 1990, Mr. Chung obtained the higher certificate in design
(interior) from Lee Wai Lee Technical Institute (now known as Hong Kong
Institute of Vocational Education (Lee Wai Lee)) where he graduated with
distinction.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of bespoke and total interior
design solutions to the retail stores of global luxury jewelry and fashion
brands, which covers a wide range of services including millwork and furniture
provision, facade development and fabrication, interior solutions and design
and project consultancy. The Group has been conducting its business since
1999 and has been expanding its business to China, United States (“U.S.”),
Europe, Middle East and other Asian countries.

For the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s revenue, gross profit and net
loss for the year were approximately HK$95.3 million (2018: approximately
HK$71.5 million), approximately HK$31.3 million (2018: approximately
HK$20.2 million) and approximately HK$9.6 million (2018: approximately
HK$22.9 million) respectively, representing an increase of approximately
33.3%, 55.0% and a decrease of approximately 58.1% over the Year.

The decrease in consolidated net loss of the Group was primarily due
to the increase in the Group’s revenue and gross profit because of the
implementation of previously delayed business strategies in relation to
renovation and new shops roll out of certain major customers of the Group
during the Year.

The improvement in gross profit margin from approximately 28.2% in 2018
to approximately 32.8% in 2019 was mainly due to the increase in sales of
millwork, furniture and facade fabrication (2019: approximately HK$79.0
million; 2018: approximately HK$40.8 million) upon the implementation of
previously delayed business strategies in relation to renovation and new shops
roll out of certain major customers of the Group as mentioned above by which
the sale of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication is usually a revenue
category with comparatively higher gross margin as compared with other
revenue categories.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEERES S

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

Leveraging the years of experience in the high-end markets under the belt
of our management team and our long-standing working relations with
international brands, the Group is confident in the prospects. Going forward,
the Group will utilize the available resources to continue to focus on its core
business and will also explore business opportunities which is associated with
its core business to strengthen its revenue base and maximize the returns to the
Shareholders as well as the value of the Group.

For sales of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication (2019: approximately
HK$79.0 million; 2018: approximately HK$40.8 million), due to the
implementation of previously delayed business strategies in relation to
renovation and new shops roll out of certain major customers of the Group as
mentioned above, significant increase in balance was therefore noted. Going
forward, the management believes that the demand of millwork, furniture and
facade fabrication will increase in the coming year as a result of the resume of
the expansion plans of certain major customers of the Group and the highly
probable potential businesses with the international recognized luxury fashion,
hotel and beauty brands in Europe.

For the interior solutions services (2019: approximately HK$13.3 million;
2018: approximately HK$27.2 million), the decrease in balance was mainly
due to the completion of certain major total interior solutions projects in the
prior year and no similar scale of project was noted during the Year. With
rich experience gained in the previous years, especially in the local residential
market, the Group has been dedicated to expanding the interior solutions
services to mid to high end residential market in Hong Kong during the Year.
The progress of such development is promising and the management believes
that better performance will be achieved for the coming year.

To establish a strong recurring income base, the Group has actively search for
potential business opportunities to maximize the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders. As mentioned above, the Group is dedicated to developing the
interior solutions services to mid to high end residential market in Hong Kong.
Moreover, the Group has been making efforts to solicit potential acquisition
targets which may have synergy with the existing business of the Group for its
ongoing strategic growth and such idea will be continued in the coming years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generated revenue principally from providing three major
categories of sales and services, mainly including: (i) sales of millwork,
furniture and facade fabrication (2019: approximately HK$79.0 million;
2018: approximately HK$40.8 million), (ii) interior solutions services (2019:
approximately HK$13.3 million; 2018: approximately HK$27.2 million), and
(i) design and project consultancy services (2019: approximately HK$1.7
million; 2018: approximately HK$3.5 million).

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately 33.3% from approximately
HK$71.5 million in 2018 to approximately HK$95.3 million in 2019. The
increase in revenue was mainly due to the implementation of previously
delayed business strategies in relation to renovation and new shops roll out of
certain major customers of the Group during the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate revenue derived from the five largest brands
was approximately HK$84.4 million (representing approximately 88.6%
of total revenue) as compared to that of approximately HK$47.7 million
(representing approximately 66.6% of total revenue) in 2018.

Direct cost

Direct cost of the Group primarily consisted of costs of material and
subcontracting charges. Direct cost increased by approximately 24.7% from
approximately HK$51.4 million in 2018 to approximately HK$64.1 million
in 2019, representing approximately 71.8% and 67.2% to the revenue of the
Group in 2018 and 2019 respectively. The increase in direct cost was in line
with the increase in revenue during the Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 55.0% from
approximately HK$20.2 million in 2018 to approximately HK$31.3 million
in 2019. The gross profit margin increased to approximately 32.8% in 2019
(2018: approximately 28.2%) as a result of the implementation of previously
delayed business strategies in relation to renovation and new shops roll out
of certain major customers of the Group during the Year which has been
mentioned above.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEERES S

Loss for the Year

For the year ended 30 June 2019, loss for the Year of approximately
HK$9.6 million (2018: approximately HK$22.9 million) was recorded. As
mentioned above, the improvement in the financial performance was mainly
due to the increase in the Group’s revenue and gross profit because of
the implementation of previously delayed business strategies in relation to
renovation and new shops roll out of certain major customers of the Group
during the Year.

Other (loss)/gain
During the Year, the Group recorded other loss of approximately HK$558,000
(2018: other gain of approximately HK$323,000). The amount represented
foreign exchange loss of approximately HK$386,000 (2018: foreign exchange
gain of approximately HK$321,000) and bad debt written off of approximately
HK$172,000 (2018: Nil).

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of approximately HK$41.0 million (2018:
approximately HK$43.6 million) mainly consisted of employee benefits,
rental and utilities, marketing and advertisement, entertainment, legal and
professional fees, depreciation, transportation and travelling expenses.
The decrease in administrative expenses by approximately HK$2.6 million
was mainly due to (i) the decrease in marketing and selling expenses of
approximately HK$1.2 million (2019: approximately HK$0.9 million; 2018:
approximately HK$2.1 million); (i) decrease in legal and professional fees of
approximately HK$0.5 million (2019: approximately HK$3.2 million; 2018:
approximately HK$3.7 million) and (iii) cost saving policy as adopted by the
Group during the Year.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense mainly represented current tax (paid)/refund and/or
(payable)/recoverable for Hong Kong profits tax, overseas profits tax and
deferred tax (expenses)/credit, if any. Income tax expenses of approximately
HK$28,000 (2018: approximately HK$209,000) was recorded during the Year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the Year.

Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated at the rates
applicable in the respective jurisdictions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group derived cash inflow from operating activities primarily through
provision of services including millwork and furniture provision, facade
development and fabrication, interior solutions services and design and
project consultancy services. Cash outflow from operating activities primarily
comprises direct cost, administrative expenses and other operating expenses.
Our net cash used in operating activities reflects our profit or loss before
income tax, as adjusted for non-cash items, such as depreciation of property,
plant and equipment and the effects of changes in working capital items.

As at 30 June 2019, the cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
HK$40.0 million (2018: approximately HK$44.8 million) which were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), United States dollar (“USD”) and
Renminbi (“/RMB”). The Group did not have any bank borrowings in 2019 and
2018.

There was no change in the Group’s capital structure during the Year.
Considering the current financial position of the Group and provided there is
no unforeseeable circumstance, the management does not anticipate the need
to change the capital structure. As at 30 June 2019, the Group has a bank
facility of HK$20.0 million (2018: HK$20.0 million) with Hang Seng Bank
that has not been utilized and is available for drawdown. The Board believes
the Group is in a healthy financial position and have sufficient resources to
support its operations and meet its foreseeable capital expenditures.

Borrowings and gearing ratio

No bank borrowing was recorded as of 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018. As at
30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group as determined
by interest-bearing borrowings divided by total capital were nil.

Charge on assets
As at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, no assets of the Group were pledged to
secure its loans and banking facility.

Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEERES S

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investment held as at 30 June 2019.
Save as disclosed above and disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated
30 August 2016 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have any plans for
material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Year, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies or joint ventures by the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 August 2016 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Company has not granted any share options up to 30
June 2019.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had 41 employees (2018: 49 employees). Total
employee benefits (including Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration)
were approximately HK$24.6 million (2018: approximately HK$24.6
million). The Group remunerates its employees based on their qualifications,
performance, experience and prevailing industry practice. Competitive
remuneration package is offered to retain elite employees, including salaries,
medical insurance, discretionary bonuses as well as mandatory provident fund
schemes for employees in Hong Kong. Apart from basic remuneration, share
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible employees
on the basis of their individual performance to attract and retain talents to
contribute the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitment was approximately HK$7.7 million as at 30
June 2019 (2018: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adheres to prudent financial management principle to control and
minimise financial and operational risks. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in
USD, RMB, Euros (“EUR”) and Great Britain Pound (“GBP”). The management
is aware of the possible exchange rate exposure due to the continuing
fluctuation of RMB and EUR and will closely monitor its impact on the
performance of the Group to see if any hedging policy is necessary. Presently,
there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign exchange exposure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 12 September 2016 with a total of 600,000,000 Shares
issued at HK$0.15 each by way of public offer and placing (the “Share Offer”),
raising net proceeds of approximately HK$64.6 million (after deducting
underwriting commissions and all related expenses) (the “Net Proceeds”).

According to the Prospectus, approximately 30% of the Net Proceeds (i.e.
HK$19.3 million out of the total Net Proceeds) was originally planned to
be used for pursuing suitable acquisition and partnership opportunities. As
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 February 2019 and
the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 31 December
2018, having considered the difficulties on identifying the potential acquisition
and partnership, the Board has resolved to reallocate part of the unutilized
Net Proceeds originally planned for such purpose amounting to approximately
HK$6.1 million, representing approximately 9.4% of the Net Proceeds,
to expanding the interior solutions services to mid to high end residential
market and approximately HK$3.4 million representing approximately 5.2%
of the Net Proceeds, as general working capital and other general corporate
purposes.

The Company has announced on 18 May 2018 that the Board has resolved to
re-allocate the Net Proceeds of approximately HK$10.6 million, which was
originally planned to be used for financing the establishment of research and
development (“R&D") center in Hong Kong, for financing the establishment of
overseas R&D centers. However, due to failure to agree and/or conclude on
commercial terms in respect of the acquisition or lease of oversea properties
for the establishment of the overseas R&D center, the Board has resolved on
18 April 2019 to re-allocate the aforesaid unutilized Net Proceeds amounting
to HK$10.6 million to build a new R&D center in Hong Kong which will serve
as a centralized hub for product and material application testing, developing
new technologies and design prototypes, as well as building special lighting
and security systems. On the even date, the Group has entered into a
provisional agreement for sale and purchase (the “Provisional Agreement”)
with an independent third party vendor (the “Vendor”) in relation to an
acquisition of a property located at workshop 1 on 13th Floor of Technology
Plaza, No. 651 King’s Road, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$8.5 million
(the “Acquisition”). The said property is intended to be held by the Group for
the establishment of the aforesaid new R&D center in Hong Kong. For details,
please refer to announcement of the Company dated 18 April 2019.

The Company has, and will continue to utilize the net proceed from the
Share Offer for the purpose consistent with the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” as set out in the Prospectus and the announcements
of the Company dated 26 February 2019 and 18 April 2019. Nevertheless,
the Directors will constantly evaluate the Group business objectives and may
change or modify the plan against changing market conditions to ascertain the
business growth of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEERES S

The below table sets out the planned applications of the Net Proceeds and ~ T&REJIFIEFIFENRTERAEUARREAFE 2 ERF

actual usage during the Year: &
Expected
Actual  Unutilized timeline
utilization Net Proceeds for the
up to as at unutilized
Planned Revised 30 June 30 June Net
allocation allocation 2019 2019 Proceeds
S
EE CZENF ABA
“T-NF RA=1H FiSH0R
AAZTHE BEADA ek L)
NER G HR BHER
AENER KEINR PR A By FEl 7%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Intended application G IR F A inmillion inmillion inmillion in million
of the Net Proceeds RERE BEAT BEET BEAT BEAT
I
Pursuing suitable acquisition ERAENBER 19.3 9.8 - 9.8  Subjectto
and partnership opportunities RiEkE any potential
target
identified
BARRE
ENEEH
EERR
Incorporation of overseas BB BN B 2 ) 14.9 14.9 8.3 6.6 Note 1
subsidiaries Kzt
Establishment of R&D center EBRERLIFE L 11.0 11.0 2.0 9.0 Note 2
in Hong Kong i
Recruiting high caliber talents BREAEAT 7.1 7.1 7.1 - N/A
NEf
Utilized as additional working RERIINEEBER 6.5 9.9 9.9 = N/A
capital and other general Hi—ROERR TEH
corporate purposes
Brand promotion Rt B 5.8 5.8 5.8 - N/A
NER
Expansion of the interior solutions 1&EZ AR R - 6.1 0.1 6.0 Note 3
services to mid to high end REZRET SR i3
residential market FEm%
Total Har 64.6 64.6 33.2 31.4
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Notes:

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company had planned to use the unutilized Net Proceeds as at 30 June 2019
of approximately HK$6.6 million for the settlement of operating expenses incurred
of the overseas subsidiaries. Considered the business plan and human resource
structure of the overseas subsidiaries, it is expected that the unutilized Net Proceeds
of approximately HK$6.6 million allocated for the incorporation of overseas subsidiaries
will be utilized by 30 June 2021.

The Company had planned to use the unutilized Net Proceeds as at 30 June 2019 of
approximately HK$9.0 million for financing the establishment of the R&D center in Hong
Kong. On 18 April 2019, the Company has announced that the Group has entered into
a provisional sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party in relation
to an acquisition of a property located at workshop 1 on 13th Floor of Technology
Plaza, No. 651 King's Road Hong Kong for the establishment of the aforesaid new R&D
center in Hong Kong. The acquisition was completed on 18 July 2019 and approximately
HK$7.7 million of the unutilized Net Proceeds has been utilized. It is expected that
the remaining unutilized Net Proceeds of approximately HK$1.3 million will be utilized
gradually for the R&D works of new designs and new products in relation to the major
projects with potential customers which is subject to negotiation progress.

The Company had planned to use approximately HK$6.0 million of the Net Proceeds
for the expansion of the interior solutions services to mid to high end residential
market. The schedule of the expansion plan was delayed mainly due to the difficulty
in locating a suitable location for the establishment of office show flat despite the
heavy effort made by the management in active searching for a suitable location.
The management has been devoted to searching for a suitable location for the office
show flat continuously for initiating the expansion. It is expected that the unutilized
Net Proceeds of approximately HK$6.0 million allocated for expansion of the interior
solutions services to mid to high end residential market will be utilized within 2 years
upon the establishment of the office show flat.

The unutilized Net Proceeds have been placed as interest deposits with
licensed banks in Hong Kong. In the event that the Directors decide to use

such
the C
Rules

net proceeds in a manner different from that stated in the Prospectus,
ompany will issue further announcement in compliance with the Listing

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 April 2019, the Group has entered into the Provisional Agreement with

the V

endor in relation to the Acquisition. The Acquisition was completed on

18 July 2019. Details of the Acquisition are set out in the announcement dated
18 April 2019.
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Corporate Governance Report

SRERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance and has been in compliance with the CG Code during the Year.
Key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
outlined later in this annual report.

Save as the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code in relation
to the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer being the same individual as
described below, the Board considers that the Company has fully complied
with the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the Year.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 3.10(1) AND
3.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

Following the pass away of Mr. Tang Yu Ming as independent non-executive
Director on 14 November 2018, the Company only had two independent
non-executive Directors, thus the number of the independent non-executive
Directors fell below the minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules. As a result of the insufficient number of independent
non-executive Directors, the Company had also failed to comply with
the requirements set out in Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with regard
to the minimum number of members and the composition of the Audit
Committee. Following the appointment of Mr. Shing Wai Yip as independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 25 January
2019, the number of independent non-executive Directors had satisfied the
minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules. In addition,
the Company was simultaneously compliance with the requirements set out
in Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with regard to the composition of the Audit
Committee.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the
Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established
four Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee,
(together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

At as 30 June 2019 and the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
six members, consisting of three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lau King Lok

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman (resigned with effect from 12 October 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

Mr. Shing Wai Yip (appointed with effect from 25 January 2019)

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (resigned with effect from 12 October 2018)

Mr. Tang Yu Ming (appointed with effect from 12 October 2018 and passed
away on 14 November 2018)

The profile of the Directors are set out on pages 8 to 12 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in the profile of the Directors that Mr. Lee Wai Sang
(“Mr. Lee”), the Chairman, executive Directors, the Chief Executive officer and
the Controlling Shareholder of the Company, is a brother-in-law of Mr. Leung
Pak Yin, the Board members do not have any family, financial, business or
other material/relevant relationship among themselves.

Save for the non-compliance as disclose in the section headed
“Non-Compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules” in this
report, during the Year, the Company has been in compliance with the
requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, the Company has also complied with the requirement of
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The chairman is responsible for the overall leadership
and strategic planning of the Group. The chief executive officer is responsible
for the day-to-day management of the Group's business and operations.
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Mr. Lee assumes the roles of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer. In view of Mr. Lee’s extensive experience in the industry, personal
profile and critical role in the Group and its historical development, the
Board considers that it is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group
that Mr. Lee continues to act as both the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer. The Board believes that vesting both the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person has the benefit of providing a strong and
consistent leadership to the Group and allows for more effective planning
and management of the Group. In addition, the Board is of the view that the
balanced composition of executive and independent non-executive Directors
on the Board and the Board Committees (primarily comprising independent
non-executive Directors) in overseeing different aspects of the Company’s
affairs would provide adequate safeguards to ensure a balance of power and
authority. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a
whole.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold board meetings regularly at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days
will be given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and propose matters to be discussed in the meeting
agenda.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying documents are dispatched
to the Directors or Board Committee members at least five days before the
meetings, the agreed period determined by the Board, to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings.

When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of
the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are/will be recorded in
sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board and the Board
Committee and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting
are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held.

During the Year, the Board held six meetings and passed resolutions by way
of written resolutions. The attendance of the Board members at the above
meetings is set out in the below section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.
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GENERAL MEETING

During the Year, one general meeting, being the 2018 annual general meeting
held on 20 November 2018 (the “2018 AGM”), was held. The attendance of
the Board members at the 2018 AGM s set out in the below section headed
“Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETING

Attendance of each Director at all the Board meetings, Board Committee
meetings and general meetings held during the Year is set out as follows:

AN

TEERRSE

EVN-|

REERERT-RBRAE - \F+-A=+
AT T \FRRAFAE (22— \FRREF
Agl) REFEHEN T /\FRRAFAGNHLRE
BERERTX[EEEREZER BB URBRAE
MEFEER] -5

EZERESEZEEERUARBRRAEN
HERR

BREFNAFEEAMBINENESSEE EFEREE
ERARBERAGNHERREIWT -
Risk
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination ~Management
Committee  Committee  Committee General
meetings meetings meetings Meeting
& it ERER
RB9e% REeed ZBEEE  BRAE

Board  Committee

meetings meetings

- £

Name of Director EEfL g3  ZEged

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Lee Wai Sang PRERE 66 NATER 44 33 NATER n
Mr. Lau King Lok e St 66 NATER  NATER  NATER 22 1
Mr. Leung Pak Yin Rasri 66 NANER  NATER  NATER  NATER n
Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman (Note 1) BEMEE (W1 23 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors  BIFHTES

Mr. So Chi Hang FeEgs 6/6 33 4/4 33 2 n
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin FHERE 6/6 313 4/4 313 22 11
Mr. Shing Wai Yip (Note 2) REEEE (Wit2) n 202 NATMER  NATER  NATER 0/0
Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (Note 3) AR (Hi23) 33 1N NANER  NAMER  NATER 0/0
Mr. Tang Yu Ming (Note 4) Mt (i) 0/0 00 NATER  NATER  NATNER 0/0

Notes: e

1.

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman resigned as an executive Director with effect from 12 October
2018. His attendance above was stated by reference to the number of Board meetings
held during his tenure. No general meeting was held during his tenure.

Mr. Shing Wai Yip has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 25 January 2019. His attendance
above was stated by reference to the number of Board/Board Committee meetings
held during his tenure. No general meeting was held during his tenure.

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 12 October 2018. Following his resignation, he has ceased to be a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 12 October 2018. His attendance above was stated
by reference to the number of Board/Board Committee meetings held during his
tenure. No general meeting was held during his tenure.

Mr. Tang Yu Ming has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 12 October 2018 and passed away on 14 November 2018. No Board/Board
Committee meeting and general meeting was held during his tenure.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee has three members currently, all are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang, Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin and
Mr. Shing Wai Yip. Mr. So Chi Hang has been appointed as the chairman of
the Audit Committee. Mr. So Chi Hang possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications required under the Listing Rules.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review the interim
and annual results of the Company and to supervise the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group and make
recommendations to the Board of the appointment and removal of the external
auditors as well as corporate governance related matters. The Audit Committee
has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is provided
with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Year, with all members
present in person or through telephone communication, during which the
following works were performed:

. Assessed the independence of the Company’s auditor.
. Discussed with external auditor the audit plan for the year ended 30

June 2019, and reviewed and approved the proposed audit fee for the
audit of consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June

2019.

. Reviewed the Group’s annual financial results for the year ended 30
June 2018 and interim financial results for the six months ended 31
December 2018.

. Reviewed the documents and other matters or issues raised by the

Company’s auditor, the significant issues on financial reporting
and internal control, the continuing connected transactions carried
out during the year ended 30 June 2018 and re-appointment of the
Company’s auditor.

. Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the
year ended 30 June 2018 and the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Company.

The attendance of the Audit Committee members at the above meetings is set
out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee
Meetings and General Meeting”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee has three members currently, two of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng
Ching Kuen Franklin, and one of them is an executive Director, namely,
Mr. Lee Wai Sang. Mr. So Chi Hang has been appointed as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee has access to
independent professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to determine the
policies in relation to human resources management, to review the Company’s
remuneration policies and to determine remuneration packages for Directors
and senior management members of the Company.

The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their
respective experience and responsibilities with the Group and the general
market conditions. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach
under code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make recommendations
to the Board on remuneration packages of the Directors and the members of
senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the Year, with all
members present in person or through telephone communication, during
which the following works were performed:

. Discussed and reviewed of the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management of the Company;

. Reviewed and recommended to the Board the proposal for salary
adjustments for executive Directors and senior management of the
Company; and

. Considered and recommended to the Board the remuneration package
for the proposed independent non-executive Directors.

The attendance of the Remuneration Committee members at the above
meetings is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 August 2016
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee consists of three members currently, one of them
is an executive Director, namely Mr. Lee Wai Sang, and two of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng
Ching Kuen Franklin. Mr. Lee Wai Sang has been appointed as the chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee has access to
independent professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and diversity (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board. In assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in
the board diversity policy of the company adopted by the Board on 22 August
2016 (“Board Diversity Policy”).

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new director (to be an additional
director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of
directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of the
proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall
be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective
carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set
out as follows:-

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
(c)  serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-executive
Director) and other relevant Board Committees, if invited;
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bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board,
giving the Board and any committee on which he or she serves the
benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and
qualifications and diversity through attendance and participation in the
Board/Board Committee meetings;

scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

ensuring the committees on which he or she serves to perform their
powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or
the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the Year, with all
members present in person or through telephone communication, during
which the following works were performed:

Reviewed the composition, size and structure of the Board;

Assessed the independence of each independent non-executive
Director;

Made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the retiring
Directors at the 2018 AGM; and

Made recommendation of new Director candidates for the Board’s
approval.

The executive Directors were appointed based on their qualification and
experience in relation to the Group’s business. The independent non-executive
Directors were appointed based on their professional qualifications and
experience in their respective areas.

The attendance of the Nomination Committee members at the above meeting
is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board
Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Risk Management Committee consists of three members, two of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin
and Mr. So Chi Hang, and one of them is an executive Director, namely
Mr. Lau King Lok. Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin has been appointed as
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee. The Risk Management
Committee has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are to review the
Company’s risk management policies and standards and to monitor the
Company’s exposure to sanctions law risks.

The Risk Management Committee held two meetings during the Year,
with all members present in person or through telephone communication.
The meetings were held to review the compliance by the Group with its
undertaking to the Stock Exchange, further details of which are set out below:

. Reviewed, evaluated and confirmed the effectiveness of the internal
control policies and procedures with respect to sanctions law matters;

. Reviewed and identified the Company’s risk exposure;

. Reviewed draft reports of internal control and risk management systems;
and

. Reviewed the disclosure in the corporate governance report for the year

ended 30 June 2018 relating to the compliance with risk management
and internal control code provision of the CG Code.

The Company has undertaken to the Stock Exchange that it will comply with
certain undertakings (the “Undertaking”) that it will not use the proceeds from
the share offer as well as any other funds raised through the Stock Exchange,
to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly, activities or business with, or for
the benefit of, any countries (“Sanctioned Countries”) which are the targets
of economic sanctions as administered by the U.S., the European Union
(“EU”), the United Nations and Australia or certain persons and entities listed
on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List of the United
States Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC")
or other restricted parties lists maintained by the EU, the United Nations or
Australia, including, without limitation, any government, individual or entity
that is the subject of any OFAC-administered sanctions (“Sanctioned Persons”)
(collectively, “International Sanctions”).
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Board had developed its system on
evaluating the sanctions risks prior to determining whether the Company
should embark on any business opportunities in the Sanctioned Countries and
with Sanctioned Persons. Under the system, advices from reputable external
international legal counsels with necessary expertise and experience in matters
relating to sanction-related laws and regulations issued by the U.S., the EU,
Australia or the United Nations would be seek if the Company encounter any
possible sanctions risk. During the Year, the Risk Management Committee had
conducted a review of the system'’s effectiveness in preventing any prohibited
or otherwise restricted sales to Sanctioned Countries and Sanctioned Persons.

The attendance of the Risk Management Committee members at the above
meetings are set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 22 August 2016. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. A truly diverse Board will include and
make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences
will be taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into
account diversity (including but not limited to skills, professional experience,
educational background, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age
and gender).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting Shareholders’
expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend
policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate
reserves for the Group’s future growth. In proposing any dividend payout,
the Company would consider various factors including but not limited to the
Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition, expected working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position,
future expansions plans, the amount of retained profits and distributable
reserves of the Company, general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business, other internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Group and any other
factors that the Board deems relevant.
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SRERRE

Any declaration and payment of the dividends by the Company will be
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association, the Listing Rules
and any other applicable laws and regulations. The Company does not have
any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend
distribution record in the past may not be used as a reference or basis to
determine the level of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company
in the future. The dividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way
obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang, Mr. Heng
Ching Kuen Franklin and Mr. Shing Wai Yip have been appointed for a term of
three years, subject to renewal upon expiry of the existing term.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 12 September 2016.
Upon expiry of the term, each of them has renewed his service contract with
the Company for a term of one year, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice served by either party on the other, and is subject
to termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”).

Each of Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, the independent
non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 12 September 2076.
Upon expiry of the term, each of them has renewed his letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of one year, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice served by either party on the other, and is subject
to termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles of Association.

Mr. Shing Wai Yip, the independent non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 25 January 2019, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice served by either party on the other, and is subject
to termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service agreement which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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The rules and procedures governing the appointment, retirement, re-election
and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board structure,
size and composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RETIREMENT
AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election and re-appointment at each annual
general meeting provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Any new Director so appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.
Any new Director so appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the
Company by the Directors and the Group’s senior management who, because
of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside information in
relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Year. In addition, the Board is not aware of
any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior management of the
Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS” CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. All Directors
are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties with care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of
the Group. The Company continuously updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory and
statutory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the Year to the Company.

SEEWEKRAERAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® @ e o o 035

EXRERRSE

EEEEIRME RE ERRERZRBREFHERE
TR - REZBERERIETERE  ABNAN -
THEEZZAREHZEUREEBNEFTSRAR

%
s °

RE R RERERES

REZRAA ERABEL=ZDZ-NEZ(RNES
ABAF=MEH - AERKBOLERIR=02—NE
ENBARRERE YAEARNEBREFASLESR
REE HEREFERIE-FHERE-R - TTEZ
TRRRERETRONES HEBEAZARZARY
KARARBEERRAS  WANZAE LEREE - AR
ZERRAESENEESNES AMTHEEZER
ZERARAEEBRRBEFASAL  UNAERRZK
SLEEE(T-

EEREREEBETESRS

KRARERMA LTRAM S REN LM ETABSES
ErRXHNEET ((BET ) ESEESRARER
REEE (RARNBNLERER DEUERERE
AEEFIARAEFNARELE) BHEEADAESFN
LR

RBARERNE 2RESHARSNAFECETRE
TH O EERYEFRRNAFEALKERRER
BAAMERBETHNOTS

EENREEXER

EERTHRRSNSERA 2EESUNENSTHR
ROEM YEEE AROLDVERLETRENER
B HORAKENERE - ARR-ETHAEEREA
BLmRAREGEREE RARRERNER
REFETZERALRBEEFHRHLEE AT ROR
HE -

PREZC2EREZHNIVEMARAREKRERA
FRERXEIZREE



Corporate Governance Report
TEERWE

The individual training record of each Director received for the Year is set out ~ SEERAFFEDEZIE 2 EAZSZSFIMT :

below:
Type of Training
Name of Director BEM% BEHIE
Mr. Lee Wai Sang FRELE B
Mr. Lau King Lok e S A, B
Mr. Leung Pak Yin REALE B
Mr. So Chi Hang HEBEELE A B
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin FIEERE A B
Mr. Shing Wai Yip REXELE A
Notes: Mzt -

A attending or participating in seminars/workshops relating to directors’ duties and  A. HRISAEHEEIRERCETAZTETE /TS
corporate governance

B. reading materials/watch on webcasts of regulatory update B. MESHEEER /BESHEERN
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EEREAEEEMS
EMOLUMENTS

For the Year, the emoluments of the Directors and members of the senior RAFEE  RATHEBERNNEERSREEEREM
management within the following bands were as follows: ST

For the year ended

30 June 2019

HE-_Z—h#F

Emoluments Band B 28 NA=tTHIEEE

|

HK$1,000,000 and below 1,000,000/ 7T & LA T 7

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000/ 7T 2

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T =
HK$2,000,001 and above 2,000,001/ 75 & JA £

Further details of the remuneration of Directors and five highest paid ABEZERAUGEFALTHEZE—SHBEERTBR
individuals have been set out in notes 7 and 8 to the audited consolidated — {758 ¢
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to BDO Limited is set out
below:

R RS

Services Rendered

/\\ /kﬁr\A

fla 3F|§(|:|

BB &

AECNIENIGRFEHMEBEMERATNME D
FrEsmT

Fee paid/payable
for the year ended
30 June 2019

BE_T-NF
ANAZTHILEFE
BN/ RN ER
(HK$'000)
(T#7T)

@:I:— £
FEERG

Annual audit service for the year ended 30 June 2019

—NENA=ZTHLEFEZ

798

DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare accounts
of the Group and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and the Company’s management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make informed assessments of the financial and other
decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company in respect of its reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the Year is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in this
annual report.

INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS” AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITIES

The Company has arranged for liability insurance cover to indemnify the
Directors and the senior management of the Company.
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CRERRE

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board’s Responsibilities for the Risk

Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and oversees such systems on an ongoing basis,
while ensuring a review of the effectiveness of these systems of the Group
is conducted at least annually through the Audit Committee. The scope of
such review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions are adequate. However, the Board recognizes that
no cost effective internal control and risk management systems will preclude
all errors and irregularities as such systems are designed to managing risks
rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal

Control Systems

The internal control system and procedures of the Company are designed to
meet specific business needs and to minimize risk exposure. The Company
adopted different internal guidelines, along with written policies and
procedures to monitor and reduce the impact of risks which are relevant to the
Group’s business and control daily business operations.

During the Year, Richard Poon & Partners Risk Management Limited, an
independent consultant, had been engaged for an enterprise risk assessment,
which was conducted under the approach adopted in the “COSO Enterprise
Risk Management - Integrated Framework”. According to the assessment
result, management has established an enterprise risk register, submitted an
assessment report containing recommendations to the Board and to enable
the Board to effectively monitor the business risks and understand how
management responds and mitigates the risks.
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Process used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage

Significant Risks

The management of the Company is the ultimate risk management
decision-making body. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for
deciding the risk level and risk appetite of the Group and considering the
Group’s risk management strategies and giving guidelines where appropriate. It
also has the responsibility of overseeing the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems on an outgoing basis and ensure that a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
has been conducted at least annually.

The Company has formulated an enterprise risk management process to
effectively manage the risks faced by the Company. The process clearly
defines four procedures for the Company’s management of risks, including
identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting.

In the event of risk identification, management communicates with the
operational functions and collects significant risk factors affecting the
Company from bottom to top. These risk factors are included as enterprise risk
register.

Management evaluates the risks in the register and prioritizes them for
follow-up actions according to their potential impact, occurrence opportunity
and sufficiency of current measures tackling the risks. The risk register is
reviewed at least once a year, new risks are added while existing risks are
removed, if necessary, after the assessment.

The changes are reported to the Board at a timely manner. This process can
effectively ensure that the Company takes the initiative to manage the risks
it faces and that all risk holders are aware of their liability so that they can
develop appropriate and effective measures in time to control the risks.
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CRERRE

Process used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to

Resolve Material Internal Control Defects

The Company has implemented an internal control system to minimize the
risks to which the Company is exposed to and used as a management tool for
day-to-day business operation. Review is conducted once a year.

The Company engaged an independent consultant, Richard Poon & Partners
Risk Management Limited, to carry out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2019. The results of the
independent review and assessment were reported to the Board and Board
Committees.

Based on the review results for the Year, the management has made a
confirmation to the Board that the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and sufficient. The Board, through the Risk
Management Committee and the Audit Committee, had conducted review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019. The Board was satisfied with
the review results and considered the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate, in particular, for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance. No significant areas of concern that might affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management functions of
the Group were identified.

The Board will continue to review and improve the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems in accordance with the existing
regulatory requirements, the interests of Shareholders and the growth and
development of the Company’s business.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling

and Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group (i) carries out its daily operation
with regards to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong; and (ii) closely
communicate with its legal advisor regarding whether the relevant information
is likely to have impact on the price of the Shares or their trading volume and
thus is considered as inside information that needs to be disclosed pursuant to
the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing
Rules.

To comply with the SFO, the Company has also developed internal control
mechanisms for handling and disseminating inside information, including
information flow and reporting processes, confidentiality arrangement,
disclosure procedures and staff trainings. In addition, whistleblowing policy
has been adopted. Accordingly, effective channels will be set up to encourage
employees to report incidents of alleged misconduct or fraud.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board has
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, as opposed
to diverting resources to establish a separate internal audit department, it
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
department.

TRAINING FOR COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board is of the view that Mr. Lau King Lok, the Company Secretary and
also an executive Director, is qualified and has appropriate experience to
discharge his duties. Mr. Lau King Lok had received not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the Year. The Company will provide
Mr. Lau King Lok with sufficient resources to receive not less than 15 hours of
professional training for every financial year as required by the Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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SRERRE

SHAREHOLDERS” RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on

requisition by the Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the board
or the company secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the board. The written requisition must specify the business to be
transacted on the meeting, which shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails
to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting, the Shareholder(s)
concerned may themselves convene an extraordinary general meeting, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholder(s) making the requisition as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to such Shareholder(s) by
the Company.

Save for the procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting as set out above, there are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put
forward proposals at the general meeting under the Articles of Association.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such written
requisition. The written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the relevant Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, 20th
Floor, 625 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to

the Board

Shareholder(s) may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary by post at 20th Floor, 625 King's
Road, North Point, Hong Kong, or via email at the contact information as
provided on the website of the Company.

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholder(s)’ enquiries and
concerns to the Board and/or relevant Board Committees, where appropriate,
to respond to the Shareholder(s)’ questions.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective and proper investor relations play
a vital role in creating Shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. The Company
discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions. Updated key information and business development of the Group
are also available on the Company’s website to enable Shareholders and
investors to have timely access to information about the Group.

The Company also endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through general meetings which provides a
forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the Board.
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available at the general
meetings of the Company to address Shareholders” queries.

The Company will continue to take measures to ensure effective Shareholders’
communication and transparency.

There has been no change in the Articles of Association since 12 September
2016, being the date on which the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, and
up to date version of the Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BEHERERRS

1.

REPORT OVERVIEW

About the Report

This report is the annual environmental, social and governance
report (the “ESG Report”) released by the Group. The ESG
Report provides a detailed account of the Group'’s sustainability
performance, policies and strategies from 1 July 2018 to 30 June
2019 (the “Reporting Period”). For information on our corporate
governance, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report”
on pages 24 to 43.

The Group is committed to addressing environmental and social
issues in a responsible and effective manner. The ESG Report
presents the Group’s sustainability approach and performance
in the environmental and social aspects of its business in Hong
Kong during the Reporting Period. The Group will continue to
strengthen its efforts in information collection to enhance its
performance in the environmental and social areas and facilitate
disclosure of related information in sustainable development.

Preparation Basis and Reporting Standard
The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) under the Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules.

We have set up an ESG working group comprising senior
management and staff who have sufficient knowledge in both
ESG matters and our business operations. Cushman & Wakefield
Limited was appointed as the external consultant to provide
assistance and advice in the course of report preparation. The
Board has reviewed and approved the ESG Report to ensure all
material issues and impacts on sustainability development have
been fairly presented.
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1. REPORT OVERVIEW (continued)

Scope of the ESG Report

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of bespoke and
total interior design solutions to the retail stores of global luxury
jewelry and fashion brands across the world. According to Frost &
Sullivan, we are the largest Hong Kong-based luxury retail interior
designer in terms of revenue in 2015. We serve a global client
base with footprints in various parts of the world including Hong
Kong, China, U.S., Europe, Middle East and other Asian countries.

The Group provides four major categories of bespoke and total
interior design services to the clients, including millwork and
furniture provision, facade development and fabrication, interior
solutions and design and project consultancy. Each of these
services may be provided on its own or collectively with other
services to our clients according to their specific demand and
requirement for each individual project. The Group continues to
work towards sustainable growth through communicating and
cooperating with its key stakeholder groups.

The Group acknowledges the importance of sustainable business
practices to achieve business excellence and enhance long-term
competitiveness. Focusing on three environmental aspects and
eight social aspects required by the Stock Exchange, the reporting
scope of this ESG Report covers our core business segments in
Hong Kong.

Access and Response to the Report

For detailed information about environmental and
corporate governance, please refer to the official website
(http://www.crosstec.com.hk) and the Annual Report of the
Group. Your opinions will be highly valued by the Group. If you
have any advice or suggestions, please feel free to contact us by:

Tel: (852) 2690-1223
Email: info@crosstec.com.hk
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1. REPORT OVERVIEW (continued)
e Stakeholder Engagement

The Group recognises the importance of the stakeholder
participation and will continue to increase the involvement
of stakeholders via constructive conversation with a view to
charting a course for long-term prosperity. The engagement of
our employees from different divisions of the Group helps us
recognize our sustainability performance.

During the Reporting Period, our key stakeholders are identified
as customers, business partners, employees, shareholders,
investors, government and the community on an ongoing basis.
To understand and meet the expectations from our stakeholders,
transparent and responsive channels such as meetings, telephone
conference, email and mutual visits are in place to ensure our
quality communications with our stakeholders.

2. THE ENVIRONMENT

Environment is the foundation for mankind to live and develop.
The Group is mainly involved in trading and service provision. As
a responsible company, we highly valued the impact of corporate
development on the environment. While complying with laws and
regulations related to environmental protection, our commitment to
emission reduction, energy and resources conservation encompasses
every aspect of our operation.

e Strategy and Management Policies

Overview

Demonstrating its commitment to energy-efficient management
systems, the Group has obtained certifications such as 1SO
14001:2015 Environmental Management System to regulate and
improve its daily operations. We have also become a member
of the Hong Kong Green Building Council to further understand
the value of green buildings, actively participate in green
environmental protection activities, and to convey the value
of energy conservation and environmental protection to our
customers, leading more enterprises and individuals to reduce
resource consumption.
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2. THE ENVIRONMENT (continued) 2. BE(E)

GHG Emission

The main carbon emissions of the Group come from daily power
consumption and business travel required for daily use. The ESG
Report focuses on greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions of CO,e
(CO,, CH,, and (N,0) including Scope 1 emissions (i.e. direct
emissions from our office’s operation), Scope 2 emissions (i.e.
emissions from the generation of purchase electricity) and Scope
3 emissions (i.e. emissions from other indirect emission from our
office’s operation).

The GHG emission of the Group during the Reporting Period is as
follows:

BERBHER
$%@mixﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁm
HERLE-RE -HERER

:«¢ “EREE (AL Bt
& Sr-RMREREB(DRERED ¥
W BEREI R R REEENERE
F) - EE2HEA (BISNEE N EE PR Kk
HERHR (MM AZEEUIMYE I
W)

REEHALKEMRERBHRMT :

GHG Emission Unit Total
AEREHMN B Bt

Scope 1! tonnes of CO,-e 55.29
EE1 W= %{Iﬁﬁ}x%%
Scope 2? tonnes of CO,-e 57.49
& [F2’ WM-a(tixEE
Scope 3° tonnes of CO,-e 28.83
#[E32 M_a{tikEs
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO,-e 141.61
RERBEHHE W_aREE
GHG intensity tonnes of CO,-e/HK$’000,000 1.49

BERERE W= ﬁ?i/ﬁ%zﬁn

Scope 1:  Direct emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the
Group.

Scope 2:  Indirect emissions from the purchased electricity consumed by the
Group.

Scope 3:  Other indirect emissions consumed by the Group.
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B HERERES

2. THE ENVIRONMENT (continued) 2. BE(E)
e Pollutants Emissions o FRUBH
The vehicles used for maintaining office operation also produce ARERRAZEENERNELABER
other air pollutants. In order to reduce these pollutants generated B BESRERERNELNZEFS
by vehicle use, the Group advocates low-carbon travels. Regularly 0  FEBREERIA - THREER
vehicle maintenance to maintain the vehicle performance is DARFS BB 2 R AT IR 5 R Y HE B
another way to reduce pollutants emission. B4R o
Air Pollutants emission generated by vehicles during the Reporting TXRARBEANERELNTRTEY
Period are illustrated below: HME
Pollution Emission Unit Total
GES k3 Efi @5t
[
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) g 6,378.78
pE=tlat) I
Sulphur oxides (SO)) g 144.31
ikRa ) )
Particulate Matters (PM) g 469.51
k) %
e Waste Management o RERYER
Major wastes of the Group comes from daily office operation. ARENENIEREATHAZEE R
We implement an environmental policy to promote awareness MEATRREE  WRBEIRKENHE (B
and respect for the environment among staff and stakeholders REPRAER) HRENZEREE - If
including customers and suppliers. In addition to the 3R principle SREBICRA R ERRAREKER)
(Reduce, Reuse and Recycle), the Group also promotes green o AEETERZEHRAE  RIEEMH
office, advocates paperless office and double-sided printing. We REEREIR - HFAN2E - BLRERR
also set up a classification and recycling area in the office area BREAGRANEREBRNERRRIER
with reference to an international standard of practice known as UREROYE  BEMRENERSER
Leadership in Energy and Environment Design to sort and recycle @uﬁl@%
waste according to required types.
Wastes Generation Unit Total
ELZBEY Efi @5t

Hazardous waste

BEREY

Hazardous waste tonnes 0.0198
BEEEY) U

Hazardous waste intensity tonnes/m? 0.000018
BERERE W,/ FTTK

Non-hazardous waste

BERRY

General waste tonnes 3.64
—IREERY) W

Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/m? 0.0033
EBEBERYAE /TR
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2. THE ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources

The Group promotes green office and advocates saving resources,
reducing waste and reducing pollutants in office operation.
Emphasize the participation of all members to achieve the goal. At
the same time, we also recommend energy-saving strategies to our
customers and help them to save energy and reduce emissions.

Energy

For energy conservation, green tips are written into the staff
handbook, and relevant training is regularly provided to all the
staff to help them form energy-saving habits.

. Turn off the lightings and office equipment before leaving

the office;

. Enable energy saving mode on office devices;

. Use energy efficient office equipment;

. Unplug the unused mobile phone charger or other charging
device; and

. Use LED lighting.

During the reporting period, the energy consumption of the Group
is as follows:

Enfergy Uni\t
B By

RiG HERERES

R5 (%)

ERER

FEEREZOND  RECHLAZZET
HEER  RERRDSEY -EREEE
BAARBHEE - AE - ARTAZFE
EERRES - HEt MIETA R o

BB
ABONEER EIFMEALEHT M2
BET T SRTEEEI - Ao MEs

B EE -

¢ BREBAEAEERARELRE:

v BHORBRESLERL
. ERBENLRE:

. REFEARNTRERAESNL
BEERE R

. {F FELEDERER ©
RREER - AEBMERERNT :

Total
Bt

Purchased electricity MWh

SNEEN KR

Total energy consumption MWh
RRERRE K ELBE

Energy consumption intensity MWh/m?
BERSRE KRB,/ FHAK
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BiR ABRERRE

2. THE ENVIRONMENT (continued) 2. BE(E)
e Use of Resources (continued) o EBRER#E
Water K
The water supply and discharge of our office are under control HOROBAZHK R RN R ER RS
of the property management, the data of water consumption is - B BROKEE - RN AKERER
unavailable. However, water saving is part of the green office. REN—R - AMZBHAEEIREETY
We encourage all staff to actively implement water conversation 1 RKEE B -
measures:
¢ Provide water saving tips; and «  REHEAKEL R
e Report the leaking phenomenon to the property o LREANFERERERKIR -
management department in time.
Packaging Materials afyH
Based on the business nature, the amount of packaging materials EREBRNUE  BEYRNAZED  BR
is low. We still use recyclable packaging materials to further P36 R A R Y R R WA — F R R
reduce the waste of resources and increase the chances of BEREME S -
recycling.
Packaging Materials Unit Total
BEME Bfi @t

Paper Kg 2.1
i) T
Plastic Kg 19.3
B T
Total tonnes 21.4
CE WA
e Environment and Natural Resources o BRERXRER
Recognizing that global environmental protection is an important AEEPRERLRRRAREMIRIEN
obligation of enterprises, the Group complies with all applicable fEen  HAETRERBORRERER
environmental laws and regulations and implement green office in WHEARRRELETEEREHRAS -

the daily office operation.

As an interior design service provider, we bring advanced EREARTRBLER  HARTPNA
international green building standards (i.e. LEED) and advanced MBI AR B R SR (AILEED) B4R 8
environmental concepts to our customers and encourage our RRES  SBEPERM-ERERE -

customers to protect the environment together with us.
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3. OUR PEOPLE

Company Culture

The Group has always been committed to fostering a culture of
continuous learning and helping employees equip themselves
to meet new challenges. As a leading provider of high-end
interior design solutions, our Employees are the foundation
of the Group as well as the core of our business. We devote
resources to ensuring work safety and assisting employees’ career
development. We want our people to thrive at Crosstec and are
committed to their professions and personal development. We
encourage our people to participate in social activities to maintain
work-life balance and to simply ensuring that Crosstec is a great
place to develop their career.

Employment Policy and Labour Practice

The Group puts great emphasis on the protection of the legitimate
rights and interests of all employee and strictly complies with
national, local and any relevant laws and regulations. The Group
firmly upholds the principle of treating each employee fairly and
consistently in all matters and enforces its employment policies
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations such as
the Employment Ordinance, the Employees’” Compensation
Ordinance and Minimum Wage Ordinance.

Within the Reporting Period, the Group observed no incidents
of violations of any relevant laws and regulations relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare. There were no
cases of child and forced labour reported during the Reporting
Period.
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BEHERERRS

3.

OUR PEOPLE (continued)

Employee Profile

As of 30 June 2019, the Group has employed 41 full-time
employees in Hong Kong. The total workforce and turnover rate
by gender, age group and employment type are as follows:

3.

Number of employees

EMNEL (&)

EEMR

HEZZ-AERA=1H AEEANEHS
HEBANEEBET BT RIRY
?\E%ﬁ%&@ﬁﬁﬂ%%mﬁ%$ﬁﬂ
N

Turnover rate (%)

EIHA MR (%)

By gender g e R E o
- Male -5
— Female -t

By age group RERARE S
- Below age 30 - 308%

- Age 30 to 50 - 305 2505%
~ Above age 50 - 505N L
By employment type REREZES
— Full-time - 2R
— Part-time - R

Competitive Employment Terms and

Benefits
Our Group highly values employees’ dedication and contribution

to the Company. Employees with outstanding performance are
commended and rewarded. The employment terms, benefits and
policies are clearly stated in Crosstec Staff Handbook to provide
guidance for all internal employees.

To attract and retain the best talent, we offer comprehensive range
of benefits and engaging working environment free of safety and
health hazards. Our merit-based remuneration package is subject
to annual review with reference to comparable market level to
ensure retention and attraction of high calibre employees. Apart
from basic salary, non-commission-based employees are also
offered discretionary bonus based on their individual performance
and our financial performance. Our employees are entitled to
different types of leave, such as annual leave, compassionate
leave, maternity leave and paternity leave. Other entitlements
include medical insurance and travel insurance. The Group also
makes monthly contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme.

The Group believes that two-way communication is the
cornerstone for a close rapport between employers and
employees. There are monthly birthday parties and festival
celebrations to foster the team spirit and provide proper
channel for quality communication between employees and
the management. Upon receipt of a letter of resignation, an
exit interview would be arranged to understand the reason of
leaving and to improve the Group’s operation while payment of
outstanding wages will be made on time.
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3. OUR PEOPLE (continued)

Talent Management

Effective recruitment process is one of the critical factors of
successful talent management. As an equal opportunity employer,
we are committed to eliminating discrimination in employment.
Vacancies are open to all applicants irrespective of their
disability, sex, family status and race. To ensure the interview
process is accessible to applicants with disability, assistance
that does not violate the assessment objectives is available
upon request. Short listing and interviews are carried out by
more than one person whenever possible. To drive the Group’s
sustainability, campus recruitment is arranged every year to attract
high calibre graduates from local leading universities.

Our recruitment process consists of age and identity verification
to avoid child labour. Prior to the commencement of
employment, employees are provided with key information
such as the job duties and the working hour of the position
concerned, while the employment is concluded according to
the labour contract to prevent forced labour. We constantly
review our recruitment policy to ensure our compliance with
statutory requirements in respect of equal opportunities and data
collection.

Work-life Balance

The Group is dedicated to encouraging employees to maintain
a work-life balance through reasonable contractual working
hours, vacation entitlements and company activities. These
include statutory holidays, paid annual leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave and paternity leave, etc. We believe that
employee well-being initiatives and work-life balance principle
can bring positive influence on staff wellness and considerably
increase team engagement, trusts and overall efficiency. Balanced
employees tend to feel more motivated and less stressed out at
work, which thereby increases company productivity and reduces
the number of conflicts in the working environment.

To maintain the work-life balance of employees, overtime
working is not encouraged. Where an extension of working hours
is needed, overtime work is consensual and compensated by
overtime pay or time-off in lieu.
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BEHERERRS

3.

OUR PEOPLE (continued)

Diversity and Equality

The Group aims to create a safe and healthy working
environment for all the employees and pursue the principle
of non-discrimination and equal opportunities. We have been
striving to champion a workplace with equal opportunities
and will not tolerate any discrimination on the grounds of sex,
marital status, pregnancy, disability, family status, race and
sexual orientation. We invested abundant resources and capital
in employee benefits and professional development of employee,
demonstrates the Group's belief in shared values and team work.

Health and Safety Policies

People are crucial to the sustainable development of our Group.
The Group is committed to ensuring a high level of occupational
health and safety performance of working environment for
our people to prevent injury and illness, in compliance with
all relevant legislation. The Group has implemented various
measures including the provision of adjustable seat, sufficient
storage space for a more spacious desk area and regular
maintenance or replacement of office equipment. We also
provide sufficient protective equipment to protect the personal
safety of the employees. Safety trainings, such as general safety
orientation for new employees and the regular fire drills organized
by building management office are provided to enhance the
environmental awareness and involvement in accident prevention
of our employees.

The Group aims to promote the concept of work-life balance
to the employees to create a harmonious working environment.
With employees spending an increasing amount of time at their
working desk and in front of the computer, we see the breakout
area as a necessity in workplace. There are breakout area and
gymnastics facilities in our office for employees to avert from their
working desk and recover from fatigue.

The Group would ensure all employees at all levels receive
appropriate training and are competent to carry out their duties
and responsibilities.

During the Year, there were total 2 employees reported work
injury with total recorded of 11 loss days due to injuries.
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3. OUR PEOPLE (continued)

Employee Development and Training

In order to achieve a standard and quality production of works
and to develop individual’s potential, all staff are encouraged to
attend monthly sharing sessions, lectures and training courses
which related to the nature of their duties. In addition to internal
trainings, we also encourage employees to enrol in courses
organised by external organisations and institutes by subsidising
them for the education expenses and profession membership
fees. During the Reporting Period, the company organized a
total of about 317 job related training hours covering different
professional areas, with an attendance of 12 employees.

Our employees are required to receive regular performance
evaluation which thoroughly assesses the employees’ attributes,
personal ability and performance at work. Our promotion is
executed on a fair and open basis; any form of discrimination
is not tolerated. Competent employees will be considered for
internal promotion in recognition of their efforts and contribution
when there is a job vacancy. It is our belief that comprehensive
career planning and effective development of skills can bring high
productivity and low turnover, therefore our annual appraisal
serves not only as a process to document the performance of
our employees, but also a precious opportunity to identify their
development needs for the refinement of our training strategy.
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B HEREARE

4. THE VALUE CHAIN

We are committed to maintaining the highest quality standard of all our
projects, through stringent quality control, subcontractor management
and adopting new technologies. We also strive to ensure business ethics
are upheld as we engage with our business partners and stakeholders.

e Supply Chain Management

The Group seeks to ensure that the value of sustainable
development permeates the entire supply chain. To build the trust
and credibility with our clients, suppliers and the public, we are
committed to a high standard of corporate ethics in our supply
chain management. A fair and unbiased procurement policy
is formulated to select reliable suppliers and contractors and
develop long-term relationships with them.

The Group continuously performs due diligence for supply
chain management to ensure the product health and safety. The
suppliers’ awareness of occupational health and safety are taken
into account in the supplier selection. Suppliers with certificate of
ISO 14001 Environmental Management System, 1SO 9001 Quality
Management System Certification, Occupational Health and
Safety Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001 or other accreditation
will be given preference. Our suppliers are expected to have
strong commitments to good ESG practices concerning issues
such as environmental sustainability, health and safety and ethical
conduct.

The suppliers and contractors selected by the Group are evaluated
with respect to product or service quality, reliability, timely
delivery as well as occupational health and safety. In addition
to a comprehensive performance evaluation system, inspection
is conducted periodically in the production process to ensure
the product or service quality. As a result, stringent systematic
controls are executed at every production stage, from supplier
selection, supplier management to supplier quality reassurance.
There are constant evaluations on the usage of materials to avoid
overstocking and squandering resources. When there are suppliers
with similar qualification, selection will be based on their
geographical proximity to the Group to reduce carbon footprint of
delivery.
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4. THE VALUE CHAIN (continued)

Product Quality and Responsibility

The Group places a high priority to ensure customers’ satisfaction
in terms of products and services we deliver. For long-term
success and sustainable development of our business, our Group
has formulated a quality management policy with stringent
procedures to provide guidelines on how quality management
should be performed to fulfil requirements of the relevant
international standards.

Value of Our Clients

Our extensive service also encompasses onsite testing and
commissioning which ensure proper installation and fitting when
we provide the service of millwork and furniture provision, facade
development and fabrication. We make every effort to promptly
investigate and resolve all disputes and complaints lodged by our
clients.

Confidentiality

Maintaining confidentiality is essential for a company to build
trust with its business partners. We strictly comply with the laws
and regulations relating to privacy matter, such as the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance. The Company trusts the staff members’
judgment not to transfer any strategic information to the third
parties as well as among the others within the company. It is
strictly forbidden to disclose any information of the practices,
clients, business transactions or affairs of the Company to any
person. According to the Staff Handbook, the security measures
of confidentiality is part of the responsibility of the respective
department head who should conduct certain security procedures
and to assure that the staffs will follow the procedures properly.

In order to protect clients’ personal information, data protection
principles are adopted when collecting, processing and using
clients’ data. Access to confidential information or document is
restricted and granted on a need-to-know basis.
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BEHERERRS

4.

THE VALUE CHAIN (continued)

Confidentiality (continued)

The Group respects intellectual property rights and strictly abide
by the relevant laws and regulations. Guidelines are set by the
Group’s information technology department regarding the use
of software. Under the guidelines, installation of any software
and hardware without the Group’s permission is forbidden. The
Group’s products and service are advertised through various
ways. We demand absolute accuracy of all information of sales
materials and forbid any false, misleading or inaccurate statement
in any form of our communications.

During the year, the Group was not aware of any violation of
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to privacy matters.

Business Ethical Conduct

The Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are
important company assets in business. It is therefore important
for all directors and staff members to ensure that the Company’s
reputation is not tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption.
The Code of Conduct stated in Staff Handbook sets out the
standards of behavior expected from the Company and the
guidelines on how to handle different situations in business
dealings. Contents of this Code of Conduct are applicable both
inside and outside Hong Kong.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly abides by relevant anti-corruption and
anti-bribery laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption, such
as the Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. The Group
also issued Code of Conduct to ensure honesty, integrity and fair
play of business activities, and commit to establish, maintain and
review the anti-bribery policies. There were no cases prosecuted
for violating relevant laws during the Reporting Period.

Any Director or Staff member who conducts business on
behalf of the Company in another jurisdiction must abide by
the laws of that jurisdiction, including laws and regulations on
anti-corruption, and all other laws and regulations pertaining to
ethnical business conduct.
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5. THE COMMUNITY 5 #E

e Team Building Activities BB EREE
Our Group always pays deep attention to both the mental and FEE-REOEINGDRE - RASE
physical health of our staffs. We encourage them to participate EI2MEREY #RIFEEETER
in sports activities and maintain work-life balance and a healthy REHEESN - RAAERBERER
lifestyle. We have organised many team-building activities to g N2EREEER  BEERSERR -
take part and enhance communication as well as developing
peer-to-peer collaboration.
We understand that our responsibility to society is to bring BZMAEIRMEEAEBHE2ARME
long-term benefits to the present and even the next generation RERRSUERUBRREF G -
through social activities and community investment.

e Social Responsibilities HEER

We recognize our responsibilities for not only contributing to
the industry’s development but also serving the community. As a
diligent corporate resonance, our Group has participated various
community and public welfare affairs and volunteer activities to
payback the society. With great cares for the people, the society
and the environment, the Group was awarded as Hong Kong
Caring Company for 2018-2019.

As one of the industry leaders in Hong Kong Interior Design
industry, the Group pays great attention to the greenery of its
business practices and services. CROSSTEC International Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company is an
institutional member of Hong Kong Green Building Council.

We aim to continue our engagement to local community, through
giving care to people who need supports, grooming our talents
through training and personal developments, and promoting
innovative ways to create a better community and future for
everyone.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B HERERES

6. DATA TABLE 6. ERE
Unit 2019
B —T-NEF
Environment Resources Consumption
BE ERE#
Electricity MWh 72.77
g7 LR
Fossil Fuel Used by
Vehicles MWh 197.36
BEHERNCAE KR
Greenhouse Gas Emission
(GHG)
BERBEHEM
Total GHG Emissions tCO,e 141.61
BERBHNEE W R(LiEE
Scope 1 Emissions tCOe 55.29
#E 1B WM_StiREE
Scope 2 Emissions tCO,e 57.49
EE2HEN WM _R(LiREE
Scope 3 Emissions tCO,e 28.83
HE3 PN WM_R(LiEE
Emission Intensity tCO,e/HK$'000,000 1.49
797 6= W ERE R BEST
Air Emissions
BEREN
Nitrogen Oxides g 6,378.78
AAY 7
Sulphur Oxides g 144.31
k=Xl i
Particulate Matter g 469.51
Hazardous Waste kg 19.8
BEEY TR
Non-hazardous Waste kg 3,640
BEEY T
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RR ABRERRE

6. DATA TABLE (continued) 6. BRKR(E)
Unit 2019
B “T-NE

Training and Development  Average Training Hours

EHEER TR
By Gender
ZIER Bl
Male Hours 59.5
B AN
Female Hours 257.5
I N

By Employment Category
RERERED

Senior Hours 39.5
=R N
Middle Hours 45
AR N
Junior Hours 232.5
N N
Others (Part-Time) Hours 0.0
Hitn (GRB) N
Health and Safety Work-related Fatalities Person Nil
REEZE AT ERRIL TSR N &
Fatality Rate Per 1,000 Employees Nil
A §1,00068T S
Work-related accidents Number of Employees 2
E TERIRIF BB A
Loss Day due to Injuries Number of Days 11
ATHRATERE RE

SEEWEKRAERAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® @ e o o 081



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BEHERERRS

7. HONG KONG EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7. EBRXSBE HERERELEZ
GUIDE INDEX gl

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Page
TEHE  E@ - —REENRBREREE £ HR

A.  Environmental

A B

A1l:  Emissions

Al B

General Disclosure “The Environment” 46

—E [R5 ]

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data  “Pollutants Emissions” 48

RIIRIEIRAL SRR IR RARRTE IR BUR REES k3

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where “GHG Emissions” 47
appropriate, intensity DRERBIM]

WRENERA12 RERBEHNER (WER) BE

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where “Waste management” 48
appropriate, intensity [REEYER

RREMIERA1S MELASEENAER (WER) BE

KPI' A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Waste management” 48
appropriate, intensity [BEZEMEE]

WRENERA14 FELEEREMAEN (WER) BE

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results ~ “Waste management” 48
achieved [RERMER |

BIREMEIRALS RIUREBEREMIEIE R ATBAR

KPI'A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes ~ “Waste management” 48

FRERIEIRALLG

are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
HEIREE RESENN A O REEEENEER
BIIRES

062 e o o o O —T—AFEHRHE Annual Report 2019

[EEEYERE ]



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RR - AERERRS

7. HONG KONG EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7. EBRXSBE HERERELEZ
GUIDE INDEX (continued) gl ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Page
TEHE  E@ - —REZERBRENEE X2 EPN

A2:  Use of Resources

A2: BiRER

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 49
—REE [EIRER]

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total “Use of Resources — Energy” 49

and intensity [BIRER -8R
MRENEIRA2] RENEISNERER IRELRAEEREE

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — Water” 50

MRENIEEA22 BFRKERRBE [EIRER —K]

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results ~ “Use of Resources — Energy” 49
achieved [ERER -8R

BRERIERA23 HAREREAREEEEAEKRR

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing “Use of Resources — Water” 50
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and [ &)&RfE#f —7K ]
results achieved

BRERIERA24 BAREGERKE LREAEAIEE - ARAKKEGE

SGIEEINES
KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if “Use of Resources — Packing 50
applicable, with reference to per unit produced Materials”

BRENERA2S MmARERMANEER (WER) BEEBMEE [BRER-SXYH]

A3:  The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BRERRRER

“The Environment and 50
General Disclosure Natural Resources”
—MIRE [RERRAEIR]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the ~ “The Environment and 50
environment and natural resources and the actions taken ~ Natural Resources”
to manage them [RERKAER
BRETURIEAS. ] BEREHHRERRAERNEATEREENER
EBRFENTY
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BEHERERRS

7. HONG KONG EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7. EBRXSBE HERERELEZ
GUIDE INDEX (continued) gl ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Page
TEHE  E@ - —REENRBREREE £ HR

B4: Labour Standards

B4: ZTA

General Disclosure “Employment Policy and 51

—RIEE Labour Practice”

[EEBOR RSB LIER]

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices ~ “Employment Policy and 51
to avoid child and forced labour Labour Practice”

PASREUEIERA.T R EREIRIE AR RET KoaBs T [MEBER LB LER]

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices “Employment Policy and 51
when discovered Labour Practice”

PSRENIEIER4.2 BIMERIRER B HRE BB TR R S5 [EEBR RS IER]

B5:  Supply Chain Management

B5: {HEEEERE

General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 56

—f e [fLrEsEEE ]

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region = =

FRENUEER5.1 KR E D HEERE A

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, “Supply Chain Management” -
number of suppliers where the practices are being [HpEsEETes |

implemented, how they are implemented and monitored
P NEIRB5.2 M AR RAHEEENED - mERTERENMHEER
HE - ARAREMMMTRERTA
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7.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - HEBKER

HONG KONG EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7.

GUIDE INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

BARGMBRE HERER
5l (&)

FE

A

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Page
TEHE - E@ - —REERBREWSE £ BR
B6:  Product Responsibility
Bo: EmEME
General Disclosure “Product Quality and 57
—REE Responsibility”
[EmmEEE ]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to - -
recalls for safety and health reasons
RENERBe.] CERDEREMART AL 2 RIEFIEHMAD K
B
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints =
received and how they are dealt with
PISAEEIRB6.2 RERN Em KRR FHE AREL A
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and = =
orotectin intellectual proper% rlghts
RIS ENEIRB6.3 Ml BEE R IREABEREENED
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall “Product Quality and Responsibility”
rocedures [EmmEHE]
BRERUEIREB6.4 it mERBIEF REmEBIERF
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy  “Confidentiality”
‘ olicies, how they are i £Iemented and monitored [MR% ]
FIS AR 51 B6.5 Lﬁ%%éﬂﬁl&&ﬂsﬂ(ﬁ MRARBETRER
Vb3
B7:  Anti-corruption
B7: R®ES
General Disclosure “Anti-corruption” 58
—REE vl
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt = =
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
case
RIS AR 1587 .1 E’\iﬁi%ﬁfﬁmé‘@é TAREEERHYCEANETHA
RITHMEE MAFER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption” 58

whistle -blowing procedures, how they are
|mplemented and monitored

PRENEIRB7 2 BN RRESF - ARAERTRERER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B HEREARE

7. HONG KONG EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7. BEXZHME
GUIDE INDEX (continued) ol (&

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

B HEREARAREER

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Page
TESE  EE - —REENBREMER £ W
B8: Community Investment
B8: HERE
General Disclosure “The Community” 59
—REE [ )
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “The Community” 59
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, [#[2 |
sport)
MRENERBS. ] TIAREE (NHE REEE H$IFE @F-
Xt - %)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area
WRENIEERS2 EZIHRMBHAER (WeBIRRE)
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and
provision of interior design, project consultancy and interior solutions services.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 1 to the audited consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review on the Group’s business performance and the material
factors underlying its financial position, as well as the development and likely
future prospects of the Group’s business are provided throughout this annual
report and in particular under the following separate sections:

(@) review of the Company’s business and financial position, and
development and future prospects of the Company’s business are shown
in the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report;

(b)  details of key performance indicators are shown in the sections headed
“Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this annual report;

(c)  the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company are shown in
the “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” set out in the following section of
this report;

(d)  the Group’s environmental policies and performance are shown in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report
and the section headed “Environmental Policies” below;

(e)  the Group’s key relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
are shown in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of
this annual report and the section headed “Relationships with Key
Stakeholders” below; and

()  the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations are
shown in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report and the section headed “Compliance with Laws and
Regulations” below.
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Report of the Directors

i% &S

The discussions referred to in the above form part of this Report of the
Directors.

Details of important event occurring after the year up to the date of this annual
report are set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this
annual report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management and internal control.
The process by which the Group identifies and manages risk is set out in more
details in the corporate governance report of this annual report. The following
highlights some of the key risks affect the Group’s business:

. The Group’s business is project-based. The types of projects we carry
out will vary and, in turn, our revenue mix may vary from time to time.
Fee collection and profit margin depend on the terms of the quotation
and may not be regular;

. The duration of our projects varies and our clients do not have long term
commitments with us;

. We depend on our suppliers and contractors to complete our projects
and to implement measures or procedures during the execution of our

projects;

. Our success is dependent on the retention of key management
personnel;

. Our business is dependent on the luxury goods sector and global
economic conditions; and

. Luxury brands may reduce reliance on physical stores.

Please also refer to the note 25 to the audited consolidated financial statements
for the financial risks facing by the Group.
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Report of the Directors

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group fully understands that employees, clients, suppliers and
sub-contractors are the key to our sustainable and stable development. The
Group is committed to establishing a close relationship with its employees,
enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and sub-contractors and providing
high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure the Group's sustainable
development.

a)

Employees

Human resources and talents are vital to the creative business of
the Group. The Group offers a comprehensive range and attractive
remuneration package, insurance benefits, training opportunities and
clear career path with promotion opportunities to its employees. The
Group also continues to improve and regularly review and update its
policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational safety and
health. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees and
the turnover rate is low.

Clients

The majority of the Group’s clients are global luxury goods and
high-end fashion brands with retail boutiques across the world. It is
the Group’s mission to satisfy different clients’ needs. The Group has
established business relationships with its five largest clients for an
average of over five years.

The Group has also established procedures in handling clients’ feedback
and complaints to ensure that clients’ opinions are dealt with in a
prompt and timely manner.

Suppliers and Sub-contractors

The Group generally do not enter into long term contracts with its
suppliers and its orders are placed on an as-needed basis depending
on the project schedule. The Group has established a long term and
stable relationships with its five largest suppliers and sub-contractors for
over six years on average. Over the years, the Group has been working
closely with them and have maintained good relationships.

In order to have a better and close monitoring of suppliers’ performance,
the Group’s management regularly conducts performance reviews
targeting the Group’s major suppliers and sub-contractors and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

Further discussions on the relationship with key stakeholders is set out in the
ESG Report.
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Report of the Directors

i% &S

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives
to minimize its environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group believes that it
is essential for it to be as environmentally responsible as possible in the
execution of its projects. The fit-out construction services provided by its
sub-contractors in Hong Kong are subject to certain laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection.

Further discussions on the environmental policies is set out in the ESG Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries
with projects located in various locations such as Hong Kong, Asia (excluding
Hong Kong and the PRC), Europe and the Middle East. The Group’s
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with all applicable
laws in the jurisdictions where it has operations. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief on the date of this annual report, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company.

Further discussions on the compliance with laws and regulations is set out in
the ESG Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group at
that date are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements on pages
91 to 175 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 21 November 2019
(the “2019 AGM"), the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 18 November 2019 to Thursday, 21 November 2019, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, all transfers
of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 15
November 2019.
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Report of the Directors

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the Year, together with summary of the financial results and of
the assets and liabilities of the Group for the four years ended 30 June 2018 is
set out on page 176 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the
Year are set out in note 12 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 30 June 2019, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$24,000,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 2,400,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are set
out in note 18 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
in notes 19 and 26(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2019, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$26.3 million. Such amount represented the sum of the Company’s
share premium and retained earnings or accumulated losses, which may
be distributable provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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Report of the Directors
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue derived from the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for approximately 76.0% of the total revenue of the Group for
the Year and revenue derived from the largest client for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$25.2 million, representing approximately 26.5% of the
Group’s total revenue for the Year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 64.0% of the total costs for the Year
and purchase from the largest supplier for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$28.1 million, representing approximately 43.9% of the Group's total direct
costs for the Year.

None of Directors, any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
HK$11,000 (2018: HK$11,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lau King Lok

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman (resigned with effect from 12 October 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

Mr. Shing Wai Yip (appointed with effect from 25 January 2019)

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (resigned with effect from 12 October 2018)

Mr. Tang Yu Ming (appointed with effect from 12 October 2018 and passed
away on 14 November 2018)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. So Chi
Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin will retire by rotation at the 2019
AGM. In addition, by virtue of Article 112 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Shing Wai Yip shall retire as Director at the 2019 AGM. All if the retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at 2019 AGM.

072 e o o o O —T—AFEHRHE Annual Report 2019

TEEFRMER

AEE REXRERRARFPHBAGRERAFE LI
AK76.0%  UEAFERBEEARFPHRALA2528
EEL WASEAFZAMALL26.5% HAEERK
HEFRBNR A EAFEERABEL604.0%  ARKE
EREEAERERENNAL A IBEET 4%
BAFEERRALEL43.9%

HEER REZENETH
MABARRAEBRTBRABS%E) R
AARERREREMNEmES -

BASEARR (RESM
FEEZIREFH

EERN
REERAFEIEH11,00057 (~2
L MEEER -

B
WEFEREZAFRAN EEH:

— J\%F 1 11,0007

HITEE

FRERE (ZERITHAL)

e e

RiaRzE

BENELE (5 -F—1F 1A+ - HEHL)

BUFHTEE

HEERL

E2: Pk
REXRE(E-F-NE-FA-_FLHERZH)
BIANRE(E-F-1F1TAT-HEHL)
BRARE(E-F—\FT AT AEEZARR-F
—NE+—FA+HAEE)

REZRMAZMAF 108K HFEELTEREERS
ERR-Z-NFRREFAGHRERT - M BREE
BAMZAAEN21M5 REXRERR _T-NEFRR
BEASRE -MARCEZHNAERREEN-F
“NERRBFAG LERST-



Report of the Directors

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against it Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their
respective offices; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

Save for the above, at no time during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision (as defined
in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of
the Laws of Hong Kong)) being in force for the benefit at any of the Directors
(whether made by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of an
associated company (if made by the Company).

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Details of the Directors’ profiles are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors emoluments are set out in note 7 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 12 September 2076.
Upon expiry of the term, each of them, has renewed his service contract with
the Company for a term of one year which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice served by either party on the other.

Each of Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, being
independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 12 September
2016. Upon expiry of the term, each of them has renewed his letter of
appointment for a term of one year, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice served by either party on the other.
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Mr. Shing Wai Yip, being independent non-executive Director, has enter into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 25 January 2019, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice served by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
FROM THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations, the Company considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’” INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for transaction as disclose in the section headed “Non-Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this report, no transaction, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for transaction as disclose in the section headed “Non-Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this report, no contract of significance had
been entered into between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and the
Controlling Shareholder(s) or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, and underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long Position

The Company/Name of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/Nature of interest

Bt NSV EL AL e g1/ BultE

EE

ESRIETRAREAD AR EAREE
WRG - REROREFFERNER KX

)

“NEAAZTR ARAEERIBTRARR
$ Tiﬁﬁﬂw&l(mﬁﬁ  RHE GO EXVE) f9
Fxtn - HEBERR D RE ST B A CERARAREES R
EROIFEVERTFENECMNERZIAR - ARE
SETAMGARARBIANESLARTT -

e

Name and class of Shares held/

interested in the Company/ Percentage of

associated corporation shareholding
ARAE/RBEEREZ
%1 AR BEEDL

Lee Wai Sang The Company Interest in a controlled corporation
and interest of spouse
L AT EREL VAL S S

Beneficial owner and interest of
spouse

ESBA AREEES

CGH (BVI) Limited

CGH (BVI) Limited

1,800,000,000 Shares 75%
(Note)
1,800,000,0008 17 (A7it) 75%
100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100%
(Note)

100 BRI ZTERR (4:2) 100%

Note: Such Shares were registered in the name of CCH (BVI), a company owned as to 50%
and 50% by Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO,
Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by CGH (BVI). Besides, Mr.
Lee is the spouse of Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Lee is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Ms. Leung is
deemed to be interested. Each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung is a director of CGH (BVI).
Mr. Lee is also deemed to be interested in the shares of CGH (BVI) held by Ms. Leung.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2019, none of the Directors and/or chief
executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which each of them has taken or deemed to have
taken under the SFO), or which would be required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register required to be kept therein or which
would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

SEEWEKRAERAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® @ e o o 075

Wat: ZERGUCCGH (BVIEZ Bl - CGH (BVI)E — I F A4
RELTEEHES0%H BRI R E] - REZFRHEEH
EXVEIRX - FHERBBEECCH BV)FTER LSRG
R MY FALEBRLLHER  REEFRYEF
BIEXVEIENE - FRLERBEARZL L REBFEERY
TERE B R HEE B - FHLERELLEEBCCH (BV)
BF o FALIHEARZLLHCCH BV)EFREHRGF

BEMFAREEN R-Z-NEXA=1H ALQEE
2R/ TR RENBEARER AR RETH
BB (TERBARBERAEXVE) MkG - 86
Bt Mﬂ’éﬂwﬁﬁﬂ)ﬁﬁf’ﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁ EAEREBERAE
XVBETRSAHANE AN LBz ERSAR (B
*ETEM%&H\HW*WE*1?31%%%%&%2% SkR)
SRR A R E R E352068E ;EuEﬁEE%ImFﬁLZ
Eifzgmske  SREEETIENGAR

R ERIAE ©



Report of the Directors

i% &S

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2019, to the best knowledge of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the table below listed out the persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who had interests in
the Shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long Position

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

BREH S/ EmitE

FTERRREMATRARDRRG REER
PHERRAE

RZE-NEAAZTH REARBEERRREREMN
RE TRETRADERG REERDFRERIEES
P YEIEIEYNE RLR S IR YNk 1
AHERARAREE S KB EIISE36KRTFENRE
HETMOEZOAL (TEERDBESHZIETHA
BT

CGH (BVI) Limited Beneficial Owner

CGH (BVI) Limited
Leung Mo Shan Jackie

ESHAA
Interest in a controlled corporation and
interest of spouse

2R Rt EE RS MBS

R

Number of Shares Percentage of
held/interest in shareholding

e/ AR
GOlParE 4E REBEDL
1,800,000,000 75%

(Note)
1,800,000,000 (4f7t) 75%
1,800,000,000 75%

(Note)
1,800,000,000 (4zt) 75%

Note: Such Shares were registered in the name of CGH (BVI), which is owned as to 50%
and 50% by each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of
the SFO, Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by CGH (BVI).
Besides, Ms. Leung is the spouse of Mr. Lee. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the
SFO, Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr.
Lee is deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2019, the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are not aware of any other person who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time
during the Year was the Company or its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by
means of acquisitions of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2016, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme, which
falls within the ambit of, and is subject to the regulations under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective during
the period commencing on 12 September 2016 and ending on 11 September
2026, being the date falling ten years from the date on which the Share Option
Scheme became unconditional. A summary of the Share Option Scheme is as
follows:

M

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees, to attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group, to provide additional incentive or rewards to employees
(full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors, contractors,
suppliers, customers and shareholders of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director,
contractor, supplier, consultant, advisor, customer or shareholder of
the Group options to subscribe for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option shall
be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, the independent
non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis of his
contribution or potential contribution to the development and growth of
the Group.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 7 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable
by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of an option is HK$10.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
of grant of the share options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of a share
option before it can be exercised.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be at
least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant
of the option.
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(6)  The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

()

subject to sub-paragraph 6(b) and 6(c) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose,
Shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been
granted but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes
of the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the
Shares in issue, being 2,400,000,000 Shares as at 12 September
2016, being the date on which the Shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (the “General Scheme Limit”). Based on the number of
Shares in issue on 12 September 2016, being the date on which
the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, the General Scheme
Limit of the Share Option Scheme is 240,000,000 Shares.

The General Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the Shareholders in general meeting
provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company) will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10% limit.

The Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting for granting options beyond the General Scheme
Limit provided the options in excess of the General Scheme
Limit are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought.

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company if this will result in such 30% limit being exceeded.
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(7)  The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
Any further grant of options in excess of such limit must be separately
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his
associates abstaining from voting.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof.

No options had been granted under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption. As such, the total number of Shares available for issue upon exercise
of the share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme was
240,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in note 22 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

During the Year, certain related party transactions set out in note 22 to
the audited consolidated financial statements are regarded as connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Group. Save for those
as disclosed below, none of which is required to be disclosed under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Given that Mr. Lee is an executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder
of the Company, Mr. Lee and his associates are “connected persons” of the
Company under Rules 14A.07(1) and (4) of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the announcements of the Company dated, 11
August 2017, 26 June 2018 and 11 July 2018, and the circular of the Company
dated 29 September 2017, the Group has carried out the following continuing
connected transactions (other than the continuing connected transactions that
are fully exempted under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules) with Mr. Lee’s
associates during the Year:
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Max Contracting Framework Agreement

On 26 June 2018, the Company as purchaser entered into a framework
agreement (“Max Contracting Framework Agreement”) with Max
Contracting Limited (“Max Contracting”) as supplier for the purchase of
furniture, fixture and woodwork by the Group from Max Contracting for
a term of three years commencing from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2021.
The price for woodwork, furniture and fixture to be supplied to the
Group under the Max Contracting Framework Agreement, has been and
continue to be determined by reference to the costs of materials plus a
markup within the range of 10% to 25% to be agreed on an arm’s length
basis.

As Max Contracting is owned as to approximately 33.3% by Mr. Lee.
Max Contracting is an associate of Mr. Lee, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Max Contracting Framework Agreement thereby constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction amount with Max Contracting under
the Max Contracting Framework Agreement for the year ended 30 June
2019 is HK$6,700,000. For the year ended 30 June 2019, the actual
transaction amount paid/payable to Max Contracting amounted to
approximately HK$1,313,000.

Max Furniture Framework Agreement

On 26 June 2018, the Company as purchaser entered into a framework
agreement (“Max Furniture Framework Agreement”) with Max Furniture
Shenzhen Company Limited (AARE(RIINE R A E]) (“Max Furniture”)
as supplier for the purchase of furniture, fixture and woodwork by the
Group from Max Furniture for a term of three years commencing from 1
July 2018 to 30 June 2021. The price of furniture, fixture and woodwork
to be supplied to the Company under the Max Furniture Framework
Agreement has been and continue to be determined by reference to the
costs of materials plus a markup within the range of 10% to 25% to be
agreed on an arm'’s length basis.

As Max Furniture is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Max Contracting
and Max Contracting is in turn owned as to approximately 33.3% by
Mr. Lee, Max Furniture is an associate of Mr. Lee, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Max Furniture Framework Agreement thereby
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction amount with Max Furniture under the
Max Furniture Framework Agreement for the year ended 30 June 2019
is HK$100,000. For the year ended 30 June 2019, the actual transaction
amount paid/payable to Max Furniture amounted to approximately
HK$33,000.
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Report of the Directors

Master Services Agreement

On 11 August 2017, CROSSTEC International Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (contracting for itself and
all other members of the Group) as service provider and Mr. Lee
(contracting for all companies owned or controlled by Mr. Lee (“Lee
Group”)) as service recipient entered into a master services agreement
(the “Master Services Agreement”) in respect of the provision of the
interior solutions (fit out) and design services (interior design proposals
and interior design solutions) by the Group for the restaurants of the Lee
Group in Hong Kong for a term commencing from 20 October 2017 to
30 June 2020. The prices paid/payable by the Lee Group had been and
continue to be agreed between the relevant members of the Group and
the relevant members of the Lee Group on an arm’s length basis, which
shall be determined by reference to:

(i) Interior solutions (fit-out)
The Group adopts cost-plus pricing model for the determination
of total quotation sum, the percentage of mark-up will be in line
with other interior design solutions projects of the Group.

(i) Design services
For project where the Group is engaged for both interior design
proposals (concept design) and interior design solutions (including
fit-out construction services, millworks provision and facade
development and fabrication services), total quotation sum for
the interior design proposal project represents 5-10% of the total
quotation sum for the interior design solutions project.

The cap for the transaction amount with the Lee Group under the Master
Services Agreement for the year ended 30 June 2019 is HK$29,000,000.
For the year ended 30 June 2019, the actual transaction amount paid/
payable by the Lee Group amounted to approximately HK$23,000.
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Report of the Directors

i% &S

Annual Review of Continuing Connected

Transactions
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that
for the Year, the continuing connected transactions as set out above:

1) have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

2)  were on normal commercial terms or better; and

3)  have been carried in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreements governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hog Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued an unqualified letter to the Board containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
provided a copy of the auditor’s letter to the Stock Exchange as required under
Rule 14A.57 of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and has continued to
maintain such float as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders nor their respective
associates were interested in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of the Controlling Shareholders
namely, Mr. Lee, Ms. Leung and CGH (BVI) have entered into the deed of
non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) in favour of the Company on
22 August 2016 pursuant to which the Controlling Shareholders irrevocably
undertake to the Group that they will not and will procure their close
associates (except any member of the Group) not to, directly or indirectly
(whether in the capacity of principal or agent, whether for its own benefit or
jointly with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, whether within or
outside China), commence, engage in, participate in or acquire any business
which competes or may compete directly or indirectly with the core business
of the Group, being interior design business (“Restricted Business”) or own any
rights or interests in such business.

Details of the Deed of Non-competition have been set out in the paragraph
headed “Relationship with our controlling shareholders — Non-competition
Undertaking” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from each of these
Controlling Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance and
that of their respective close associates with the Deed of Non-competition
during the Year. The independent non-executive Directors, having reviewed
the confirmations and the status of compliance, were satisfied that all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by
the Controlling Shareholders and duly enforced during the Year.
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Report of the Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance for
enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving the interests
of its Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted and committed
to the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules and has prepared the corporate governance report, which is
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report. The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited by
BDO Limited, who will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the 2019 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO
Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the 2019 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wai Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 September 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

: +852 2218 8288

iz
{85 : +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CROSSTEC GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(ZEREBZERERDF)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Crosstec Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 175, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
MR ik

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition on contracts from interior

solutions projects
Refer to Note 3.1(g) and Note 3.2(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation using
input method, measured based on the proportion of contract costs incurred
for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.
Accordingly, revenue recognition on contracts from interior solutions projects
involves a significant degree of management estimates and judgment, with
estimates being made to assess the total contract costs and stage of completion
of the contract.

For the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s interior solutions projects
contract revenue amounted to approximately HK$13,298,000.

We identified the revenue recognition on contracts from interior solutions
projects as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement exercised by the
management in determining the total contract costs and contract costs incurred
for work performed to date.

Our response:

Our principal audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition on contracts
from interior solutions projects are as follows:

- Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating internal controls on
recognition of contract revenue and costs;

- Discussing with project managers and the Group’s management about
the progress of the on-going contracts;

- Checking the contract sum to the underlying contracts entered
into with the customers and other relevant correspondences and
supporting documents in respect of variations in contract works or price
adjustments, on a sample basis;

- Evaluating the reasonableness of approved budgeted costs, including
(i) for subcontracting costs contracted for, agreeing the budgeted costs
to the underlying contracts; (ii) for estimation of costs not supported by
contracts, checking that the costs are included in accordance with the
contracts; and (iii) comparing the budgeted data with the actual data
recorded, taking into account the stage of completion achieved, on a
sample basis;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matters (continued)

Revenue recognition on contracts from interior

solutions projects (continued)

- Assessing the reasonableness of contract revenue recognised and the
stage of completion by reference to the actual cost incurred to date over
the approved budgeted costs on sample basis;

- Checking on a sample basis the progress billings and the actual costs
incurred on contract works to the underlying supporting documents
during the reporting period; and

- Reviewing financial budget prepared by the Group’s management for
each on-going contract to assess whether expected loss on contract was
properly recognised as an expense immediately.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
MR ik

Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ngai Hang

Practising Certificate Number P04743

Hong Kong, 27 September 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2019

gzr-F

GREERHEMZEKER

~NENA=THIFFE

2019 2018

Revenue
Direct cost

Gross profit

Other income
Other (loss)/gain
Administrative expenses

Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense

Loss for the year and attributable
to owners of the Company

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on
translating foreign operations

Other comprehensive income
for the year and attributable
to owners of the Company,
net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year
and attributable to owners
of the Company

Losses per share
Basic and diluted (HK cents)

Notes
B e
WA 5
RN
EF
H g A 5
Hit (B8B) /s 5
THRAX
@m SHEAXAIEE 6
NEMEX 9
$W&¢ﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HENMEHRPBEESNER
HNEBBEEENEL 28
FRARAATHES AES
Hin2EBA (MBRHE)
ERARAATEEA
EE2EKALE
BRER
BEAREE (B) 11

HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET
95,336 71,541
(64,073) (51,351)
31,263 20,190
682 310
(558) 323
(40,993) (43,554)
(9,606) (22,731)
(28) (209)
(9,634) (22,940)
247 65
247 65
(9,387) (22,875)
(0.40) (0.96)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position SERBRRER
As at 30 June 2019 RZFE-NFENA=+H

2019 2018

Notes HK$f0()£) HK$f0()£)
iz FET FBT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ERN TN 12 4,589 5,866
Deposits B 13 2,816 1,328
7,405 7,194
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from customers for BREF&HIEFE
contract work 16 - 424
Trade and other receivables FEW R 5 B AL A FRIR 13 14,044 15,250
Income tax recoverable CIEEIR ] 221 886
Cash and cash equivalents RERBLEEY 14 40,009 44,791
54,074 61,351
Total assets HEE 61,679 68,545
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables fgﬁﬁ% B E A IR 15 20,280 20,683
Contract liabilities AHEE . 16 4274 -
Amounts due to customers J?EHE)E'/E.\%’\JIEEME\
for contract work 5 16 - 1,216
Income tax payable JE ARG 0 38 6
24,592 21,905
Net current assets RBEEZFE 29,682 39,446
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARDER 37,087 46,640
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIBARE 17 194 201
Other payable H At & R IE 15 450 609
644 810
Total liabilities BELEE 25,236 22,715
NET ASSETS BEEFE 36,443 45,830
Capital and reserves BARR
Share capital LN 18 24,000 24,000
Reserves 1 19 12,443 21,830
TOTAL EQUITY R 36,443 45,830
On behalf of the board of directors REESFE
Mr. Lee Wai Sang Mr. Leung Pak Yin
FEERE REAREE
Director Director
i R
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity RERERBEHX

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_F-NFEXNA=1THIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAEBAER

Share Merger  Exchange  Accumulated

Share premium reserve reserve losses
capital ~ (Note 19(1)) ~ (Note 19(if)) ~ (Note 19(iii))  (Note 19(iv)) Total

RkidE  AbtEE  EiRE  ZABR
B (akion)  (WEbo)  (RER9)  (E196v) ot

|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THR TETL TR TR T

Asat 1 ]uly 2017 RZE-tEtA-H 24,000 56,615 5,329 (146) (17,003) 68,705

Loss for the year FRER = = = - (22,940) (22,940)
Other comprehensive income for the year — FAEMRERA
Exchange differences on translating foreign MM EBAEEEMELZE

operations - - - 65 - 65
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZERALE - - - 65 (22,940) (22,875)
As at 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 R-2-NFXA=1R

R=%-\EtA-H 24,000 56,615 5329 (81) (40,033) 45,830
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (9,634) (9,634)
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ FREMZERA
Exchange differences on translating BOARBHEELNELZR

foreign operations - - - 247 - 247
Total comprehensive income for the year EREEUAESR - = = 17 (9,634) (9,387)
As at 30 June 2019 R=B-nERA=1A 24,000 56,615* 5,329¢ 166* (49,667)° 36,443

# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately — * HEFERHFE BN IR AL E R 712,443,000
HK$12,443,000 (2018: HK$21,830,000) in the consolidated statement of financial TC(ZF /15  21,830,00087) % °
position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ey IE nE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_F-NFEXNA=1THIFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i TR FTEL
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REZHHFERLAE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax expense BR BT 1525t 57 S BT B 18 (9,606) (22,731)
Adjustments for: HE
Interest income F S WA 5 (298) (134)
Depreciation of property, ME BELRREBINE
plant and equipment 6 1,569 1,503
Gain on disposals of property, HEME - BE k&
plant and equipment EollhEny 6 - 2)
Unrealised exchange loss/(gain), net AEERERER (KE)
R 692 (211)
Bad debt written off i 85 032 B 172 -
Operating loss before working EEECRDA 2 RERE
capital changes (7,471) (21,575)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and FENE 5 K H b FE (88 0)
other receivables Ve (512) 2,443
Decrease in trade and other payables ENE SR EMRER D (557) (5,186)
Increase in contract liabilities BHBEEM 4,274 -
Decrease in amounts due from customers W EF A TRRERD
for contract work 424 1,917
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to EREFELTIZRE
customers for contract work G /s8m (1,216) 767
Cash used in operations Z@M}Eﬁ)ﬂfﬁ/f (5,058) (21,634)
Income tax refund R EIPTFH 662 335
Net cash used in operating activities REEF AL & (4,396) (21,299)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RAZBHFRSRASAE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received RGPS 298 134
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE % - FiFE k& (292) (3,099)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME Jﬁﬁ%& R
plant and equipment PTG 3R - 35
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing Txﬁ/ﬁibﬁﬁ 5/ (AR FE
activities 6 (2,930)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued) HSEBEHFRER ()

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_F-NFEXNA=1THIFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
33 TAT THET
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEM/MAL BE
EQUIVALENT (4,390) (24,229)
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash EXHRGLRSFEVNTE
equivalents (392) 231
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FNRERASFEY
of year 44,791 68,789
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATEND ~ ERRERAELSEY
OF YEAR 40,009 44,791

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND BE&RBREZBYEHZOM
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances Be RIBITEH 14 27,989 44,791
Non-pledged time deposits with original REEHRRIBR PR =1EA

maturity of less than three months when Zﬁ?ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁm

acquired 14 12,020 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the SERERERMIZELER

consolidated statement of cash flows HELEY 40,009 44791
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General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 March
2016, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2004 revision) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the
Company is located at the offices of P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75
Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The headquarter
and principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at 20th Floor,
625 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and facade
fabrication and provision of interior design, project consultancy,
maintenance and interior solutions services.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s immediate and ultimate
holding company is CGH (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands.
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1. General Information (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of Percentage of equity Issued and fully paid Principal activities

incorporation and attributable to the ordinary share capital and principal
Name of entity form of business structure Company o registered capital place of business
Direct  Indirect
ML R B EM R EETRAREAR
ERLH FBREHA ARFEERERDY  BARERER IBEPRIREF A

B il
|

Crosstec (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands (the 100% - HK$100 divided into 100  Investment holding, Hong Kong
(“Crosstec (BVI)") “BVI"), 21 March 2016, shares of HK$1 each
limited liability company
Crosstec (BVI) Limited ABAREE 100% - 100BTHAAIOR  RESER FE
([Crosstec (BVI)) ((EE#REE]) FREAEVSTORG
ZE-REZA-+-R:
BRAR
Crosstec Group Limited Hong Kong, 10 May 2007, - 100% Ordinary shares of Investment holding, Hong Kong
(“Crosstec Group") limited liability company HK$100,000
HEEEERLA = S - 100% 100,000 & @Mk RARE &R
((5e%E]) AATH BRAR
Crosstec International Limited Hong Kong, 17 May 2007, - 100%  Ordinary shares of Trading of millwork, furniture and
(“Crosstec International”) limited liability company HK$100,000 facade fabrication and provision of
interior design, project consultancy
and interiors solutions services,
Hong Kong
HERRERLH B% “3TtE - 100% 100,000 EBR HESE  FBRARR KEUR
(HRER]) AATER FRAA BRUEARRMZREST B
FAARENRAARRY BB
(2 Concept Limited Hong Kong, 22 January 2019, - 100%  Ordinary share of HK$1  Provision of interiors solutions
limited liability company services, Hong Kong
REEEHESERAA B ZE-NE - 100% 1B TEER RUEENERTRRE - &%
—R=+=H BRA#
CPI' Holdings Limited (“CPI Holdings”) ~ Hong Kong, 22 March 2018, - 100%  Ordinary share of HK$1  Investment holding, Hong Kong
limited liability company
CPI Holdings Limited ([CPI Holdings]) ~ &/ - ZE—/\% - 100%  TETEBR REARE &R
ZAZtZH ARARH
Crosstec Business Management Limited ~ Hong Kong, 21 April 1999, - 100% Ordinary shares of Provision of labour and management
({formerly known as Crosstec Interiors limited liability company HK$100,000 services, Hong Kong
Limited) (“Crosstec Business”)
AREBFEERRAA B —AANE - 100%  100000BTLERR < REZHAREERS BE

(FE 7R TRARAR)
([2%8%))

MAZ+—B ARATF
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1. General Information (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of Percentage of equity Issued and fully paid Principal activities

incorporation and attributable to the ordinary share capital and principal
Name of entity form of business structure Company or registered capital place of business
Direct  Indirect
ALK BB R ERTRARERR
BEAR FHREHA ARREEREENL  BRAREMER IREDRIEEFNE

B ik

098

Crosstec Trading Shenzhen Company People’s Republic of China - 100% Registered capital of Trading of millworks and furniture,
Limited (“EREZE 5 EEAT) (“PRC") 4 December 2009, HK$1,500,000 PRC
(“Crosstec (Shenzhen)”) limited liability company
EEEE5 (R ERA hEARLAE (A - - 100% 15000008 TEMER HESE  KERARRLEE
(IEg& RI0)]) ZETNETZANA HE
BRAR
Crosstec (Shenzhen) Contracting PRC, 5 December 2017, - 100% Registered capital Furniture and facade fabrication and
Company Limited limited liability company of Renminbi provision of interior design, project
“HE(RINEHTIRERAF) (“RMB")2,000,000 consultancy and interiors solutions
services, PRC
HE(RI) EHTRBRAA HE Rt F - 100%  AREB(IARE] FRENRBRHEEN RRRER
TZRER ARARA 2,000,0007C Rit BEFARERRRTR
AR fR% - B
CX (Macau) Limited ("CX Macau") Macau, 17 December 2013, - 100% Registered capital Trading of millwork, furniture and
limited liability company of Macao Patacas facade fabrication and provision of
(“MOP")25,000 interior design, project consultancy
and interiors solutions services,
Macau
REE (M) - ABRAA] BM =% - 100% 25,0008 HESE FERAZE  KER
(IR (RM)]) TZA+tA BRAT (MEM%EMER FEREENRREZARG  HA
BARENFATERY - 2
Crosstec Design Consultants Limited Hong Kong, 3 October 2016, - 100%  Ordinary shares of Provision of interior design services,
(“CX design”) limited liability company HK$100,000 Hong Kong
PREGIERERAR (SRR B8 —T-REtA=ZR" - 100% 1000008 L @R REENR RS B8
BRAF
Crosstec Overseas Holdings B.V. Amsterdam, the Netherlands, = 100% Euros (“EUR")1, divided  Investment holding, Netherland
(“CX Overseas”) 28 November 2016, limited into 1 share of EURT
liability company each
Crosstec Overseas Holdings B.V. HEMEHES  —2-—1F BT (BT Famk REER &F
(ICX Overseas)) +—A=1+/\B EBAR BREEIERTHRG
Crosstec Milano s.r.l. (“CX Italy”) Milano, Italy, 9 November = 100% EUR10,000, divided into  Provision of marketing and liaising
2016, limited liability 10,000 shares of EURT ~ services to the inter-group
company each companies, Italy
Crosstec Milano s.r.l EAMAR = /\E - 100%  10,000BT#AHA10000 MEERRFRETGZHEER
(IcX italy)) T—ANE" ﬁ RA REREEIRT Bk RTs - AR
ol gy
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1. General Information (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of Percentage of equity Issued and fully paid Principal activities

incorporation and attributable to the ordinary share capital and principal
Name of entity form of business structure Company or registered capital place of business
Direct  Indirect
ALK BB R ERTRARERR
BEAR FHREHA ARREEREENL  BRAREMER IREDRIEEFNE

B ik
|

Crosstec USA Inc. (“CX USA") Delaware, The United States, - 100% United States dollar Provision of marketing and liaising
19 December 2016, limited (“USD")10, divided services to the inter-group
liability company into 1,000 shares of companies, The United States

USD0.01 each
Crosstec USA Inc. XERAEN —B-RF - 100%  10ER(ERDRARE REERAAREHEEER
(Tcx UsAl) +ZA+tNA BRATF 1,000k EREE01  BWERE XE
ELABR R
Crosstec Design Solution GMBH Berlin, Germany, 20 January - 100% EUR25,000, divided into  Provision of marketing and liaising
(“CX Germany”) 2017, limited liability 25,000 shares of EURT  services to the inter-group
company each companies, Germany

Crosstec Design Solution GMBH @BEAR —T—+F - 100%  25,00087T#2 /25,000 AEERRERETSHEER

(TCX GermanyJ) —R=tH §BAA REREEIE T Rtk A5 - 2B
ol y

Cyclo Technology Limited England & Wales, 23 July - 100%  Great British Pound Dormant, United Kingdom
2015, limited liability (“GBP")100, divided
company into 100 shares of

GBP1 each
Cyclo Technology Limited SRBRERS —T-1F - 100%  100EE(EE)FHE TEEX HE
tAZ+=8 ARAA 100 A E1REH
Bt
Davenport (HK) Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 6 April 2018, - 100%  Ordinary share of HK$1  Investment holding, Hong Kong
(“Davenport”) limited liability company
Davenport (HK) Holdings Limited B8 - \FEARA - 100%  IETERR REER BE
([ Davenport]) BRAT
Trinity Facade Sustainability Hong Kong, 2 May 2019, - 100% Ordinary share of HK$1  Provision of facade management
Technology (Hong Kong) Limited limited liability company services, Hong Kong

FoIRBURENSR (BR)ARAR BE —F-NF - 100%  TETERR RERBEERYE &8
EAZR ARAA

Trinity Facade Sustainability Hong Kong, 5 September - 100%  Ordinary share of HK$1  Investment holding, Hong Kong

Technology Limited 2018, limited liability
company
S RBETRENRARLT i e S o IETERR REER B

NARA - ARAA
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2.1. Basis of Preparation

(@)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“Companies Ordinance”). In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands,
except when otherwise indicated. Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and records in its own functional currency.

2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 July 2018
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers
Amendments to Classification and Measurement of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKAS 40
HK(IFRI C)- Int 22

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Insurance Contracts

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Clarifications to HKFRS
15)

Transfers of Investment Property

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 28
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 22
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective (a)
1 July 2018 (continued)
The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15
are disclosed below. Apart from HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15
as mentioned below, there are no other new standards or
amendments to standards that are effective for the first time for
this period that could be expected to have a material impact on

the Group. BEHEZYE-
A, HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments A BRYBHEERFIF-2@BTA

BRNMBREENFIRHE TN
FLA-ARZERRZ FEHRER
REBQHENEINEMTE 1
ARitE TEESHMTASH 22
B=FE: (D ERGE QRER
Qe - 8- \FLA—H
TBERNE BB B RS ERIE95E 3
RAEBR SR BR KRG AR BER

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2018, bringing together all three aspects
of the accounting for financial instruments: (1) classification
and measurement; (2) impairment; and (3) hedge
accounting. The adoption of HKFRS 9 from 1 July 2018 has
resulted in changes in accounting policies of the Group
and the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements. RERZeBLBRES-
(i) Classification and measurement of financial (i) SBIEZHBERFE
instruments

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition,
classification and measurement requirements for
financial liability from HKAS 39, except for financial
liability designated at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”), where the amount of change in
fair value attributable to change in credit risk of
the liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income unless that would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains
the requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of
financial assets and financial liability. However,
it eliminates the previous HKAS 39 categories for
financial assets of held to maturity financial assets,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
assets. The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no material
impact on the Group’s accounting policies related
to financial liabilities, and derivative financial
instruments. The impact of HKFRS 9 on the Group's
classification and measurement of financial assets is
set out below.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

1 July 2018 (continued)
A. HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (continued)

Under HKFRS 9, except for certain trade receivables
(that the trade receivables do not contain a
significant financing component in accordance with
HKFRS 15), the Group shall, at initial recognition,
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction
costs. A financial asset is classified as: (i) financial
assets at amortised cost; (ii) financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”); or (iii) financial assets at FVTPL. The
classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9
is generally based on two criteria: (i) the business
model under which the financial asset is managed;
and (ii) its contractual cash flow characteristics (the
“solely payments of principal and interest” criterion,
also known as “SPPI criterion”). Under HKFRS 9,
embedded derivatives are no longer required to be
separated from a host financial asset. Instead, the
hybrid financial instrument is assessed as a whole for
the classification.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost only
if it meets both of following conditions and it has not
been designated as at FVTPL:

. It is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

. The contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
meet the SPPI criterion.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 July 2018 (continued)
A. HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (continued)
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets
both of the following conditions and it has not been
designated as at FVTPL:

. It is held within a business model whose
objective is to achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets; and

. The contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
meet the SPPI criterion.

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. All other financial
assets not classified at amortised cost or FVOCI
as described above are classified as FVTPL. This
includes all derivative financial assets. On initial
recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortised cost or FVOCI at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

1 July 2018 (continued)

A. HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial
instruments (continued)

The following accounting policies would be applied
to the Group’s financial assets as follows:

Financial assets
at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in
profit or loss.

The following table summarises the original
measurement categories under HKAS 39 and the new
measurement categories under HKFRS 9 for each
class of the Group’s financial assets as at 1 July 2018:

Financial assets

TREE

Trade and other
receivables

RS R EBTR

Cash and cash
equivalents

RENREFEN

FRBEMBRERA (EERBER
2D (&7

BT BT BRI R R -

“E-\FLA-BER#E)

A BEUBHEEANEI 2B ITA
(%)
i) SBIAZPERGESE)

W EHEERERN AR
THleRAE

ZEE  REERAGE
KA ZERBEAR
B ERERME
ZER AE-MENK
EE AN ERMER

BERARBER
BB - BUH
BR AR S
NEGTRER

TREFIARES R EREE
RZE-N\FLA-BREE
BRI ERFINRATE
BRIARBEE B BREE
U952 #at EX A -

Original Carrying amount Carrying amount
classification New classification asat1July2018  asat1July 2018
under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9
REEESH REBBHRG

EAIE3%  WEEABOR

REZBEMERN BEFEVERS RZE-N\% RZF-\F

EFCREDE RERIESR 2D +tA-HZEHE +tA-BZKRAEE
]
HK$'000 HK$’000
THT THBT
Loans and Financial assets at
receivables amortised cost 12,756 12,756
ERRIEMEIE REEK A E
LEREE
Loans and Financial assets at
receivables amortised cost 44,791 44,791
SRR EYEE REEK AT E
LEREE

104 e o o 0 O —T—AFEH{E Annual Report 2019



Notes to Financial Statements

bR eI

2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

1 July 2018 (continued)
A. HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group’s
impairment model by replacing the HKAS 39
“incurred loss model” to the “expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) model”. HKFRS 9 requires the Group to
recognised ECL for trade receivables, financial
assets at amortised costs, contract assets and debt
investment at FVOCI earlier than HKAS 39. Cash and
cash equivalents are subject to ECL model but the
impairment is immaterial for the current period.

Under HKFRS 9, the losses allowances are measured
on either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs:
these are the ECLs that result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original effective
interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade and retention receivables and contract
assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

1 July 2018 (continued)
A. HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based
on the 12-months ECLs. The 12-months ECLs is the
portion of the lifetime ECLs that results from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. However,
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since origination, the allowance will be based
on the lifetime ECLs. When determining whether
the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrate otherwise.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECL is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

1 July 2018 (continued)
A. HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Presentation of ECLs

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets. For debt investment at FVOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCI, instead of
reducing the carrying amount of the assets.

1 Impact on trade and retention receivables and
contract assets

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade and retention receivables
and contract assets using simplified approach
HKFRS 9 and calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on reasonable
and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date, including historical credit loss
experience, shared credit risk characteristics
and the number of days past due, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

The adoption of the ECL model under HKFRS 9
does not have material impact on the carrying
amounts of the Group’s trade and retention
receivables and contract assets as at 1 July
2018.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

1 July 2018 (continued)
A. HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Presentation of ECLs (continued)

2 Impact on the remaining financial assets at
amortised cost
The remaining financial assets at amortised
cost of the Group include other receivables
and deposits. No changes have been made to
loss allowance upon the transition to HKFRS 9
as of 1 July 2018.

Transition

The Group has applied the transitional provision in
HKFRS 9 such that HKFRS 9 was generally adopted
without restating comparative information. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from
the new ECLs rules are therefore not reflected in the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018,
but are recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position on 1 July 2018. This means that
differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liability resulting from the adoption
of HKFRS 9 are recognised in retained earnings
and reserves as at 1 July 2018. Accordingly, the
information presented for the year ended 30 June
2018 does not reflect the requirements of HKFRS 9
but rather those of HKAS 39.

The following assessment has been made on the
basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at
the date of initial application of HKFRS 9:

- The determination of the business model
within which a financial asset is held.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 July 2018 (continued)

B.

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“HKFRS 157)

HKFRS 15 supersedes HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”,
HKAS 18 “Revenue” and related interpretations. HKFRS 15
has established a five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS
15, revenue is recognised at the amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The directors consider that the application of HKFRS 15
does not have a material impact on the timing and amounts
of revenue the Group will recognise on it contract with
customers.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the cumulative
effect method without practical expedients. Based on the
assessment of the Group, no adjustments to the opening
balance of equity at 1 July 2018 have been made on the
initial application of HKFRS 15. As allowed by HKFRS
15, the Group has applied the new requirements only to
contracts that were not completed before 1 July 2018.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 22 HQEBHEREEN (FEHER

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued) LEA) (&

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective (@) FREE]RIBRT BB S &R -
1 July 2018 (continued) “E-N\FtA-BEXR@
B.  HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers B EBEOBHEEHEISHE-FEFAY

WA ([BEGBHEEHE55))
(%)

Details of the new significant accounting policies and the HAEEXBEERMRBEB T
nature of the changes to previous accounting policies in ZEHAUMRRBESHRRES 21t
relation to the Group's various goods and services are set BHEHIMT

out below:

(“HKFRS 15”) (continued)

Nature of the goods or services,
satisfaction of performance obligations and ~ Nature of change in accounting
payment terms policy and impact on 1 July 2018
ERFRBE L SHURED LR
Mz Ed/ RS BITEAEE R AR R-F-\FtA-BNFE
[
(i) Sale of products Revenue from sale of products is  HKFRS 15 did not result in significant
- Millwork and recognised at point in time when the  impact on the Group’s accounting policies.
furniture goods are delivered to, and have been
- Facade fabrication accepted by, customers. Invoices for
these products are issued on delivery of
goods.

Note  Product/ service

M0 - - ..

(i HEEmM HEEMMBRARERINFREPLER BERBBREEASSRLEHAEENE
- B FEEAH PREXBER ZAFERNERINERR FHRELEATVE
i R R fEFA o
- FlERE
(ii) Interior solutions Revenue from sale of interior solution ~ HKFRS 15 would have a significant impact
projects is recognised over time based on input  on the Group’s revenue recognition

(ii) ERBARFRIER

—Z-h&EE#HL Annual Report 2019

method. The Company satisfies its only
performance obligation by completing
the interior solutions projects to
customers.

HEZARRTROPARBRNER —
BERNER - ARBEB/EPEKE
AERANRRARTAE-—NEORE -

policy. However, there was no incomplete
project brought forward from 30 June
2018. Therefore, there is no accumulative
impact to the financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2018 at the point of the
initial adoption of HKFRS 15.
BEMBRELENSISREHAEENK
ANERBRRELEATE - A LEB -
E-N\FRAZTREBRTHNER - B
I EREABEMBEREEAE1REA
EHEE T \FRA=TRLFENH
BRRELRHTE -
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 22 HQEBHEREEN (FEHER

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) LEA) (&
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective (@) FREE]RIBRT BB S &R -
1 July 2018 (continued) “E-N\EtA-RENE
B.  HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers B EBEOBHEEHEISHE-FEFAY
(“HKFRS 15”) (continued) WA ([EEYBHEERE15%))
(&)

Nature of the goods or services,
satisfaction of performance obligations and  Nature of change in accounting

Note  Product/ service payment terms policy and impact on 1 July 2018
BRI ME SHBRED LML R
M Em/RE BT KR TR IR RZF-N\FLA-ANFE

|

(iii) Maintenance services Maintenance services, which provide ~ HKFRS 15 did not result in significant
services over a length of time. Thus, the  impact on the Group's accounting policies.
customers can obtain the benefit over
the time and the Group would recognise
the revenue over the time accordingly.
Invoices for maintenance services are
issued on a periodical basis.

(i)  RERSE REBRB AR —REH AR GRS - BEMBREEAE DRI EHAEENE
I BEPAAE-BRERAER F588 HERELEATE -
R E - BRERARBHRA - RERS
MERTHFRA -

(iv) Design and project ~ Consultancy services, which provide ~ HKFRS 15 did not result in significant
consultancy services  services over a length of time. Thus,  impact on the Group’s accounting policies.
the customers can obtain the benefit
over the time and the Group would
recognise the revenue over the time
accordingly. Invoices for Design and
project consultancy services are issued
on a periodical basis.
(iv)  RETRIABHS Rt RBEHARG AN —BEERRE FEREREENFSRIBEARENEG
R R - Atk RPAE-BRERNER HRRELEAYE-
AEEeRELE—RERARIRA -
Rt RRBAARBOERERRE -
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 July 2018 (continued)

B. HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“HKFRS 15”) (continued)

(i)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the asset may be
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.
The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depict the Group’s
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

. direct measurements of the value transferred
by the Group to the customer; or

. the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 July 2018 (continued)

B. HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“HKFRS 15”) (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)
The adoption does not have a material impact on the
recognition of the Group’s main revenue streams.

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction
price for the time value of money when a contract
contains a significant financing component,
regardless of whether the payments from customers
are received significantly in advance of revenue
recognition or significantly deferred.

The Group has reassessed its business model and
contract terms to assess the effects of applying the
new standard on the Group’s financial statements.
Management of the Company considered that HKFRS
15 did not result in significant impact on the Group’s
accounting policies.

Presentation and disclosure requirements
Disaggregation of revenue

As required for these financial statements, the
Group’s disaggregated revenue recognised from
contracts with customers into categories that depict
how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows are affected by economic
factors. The Group has also disclosed information
about the relationship between the disclosures of
disaggregated revenue and revenue information
disclosed for reportable segment. Refer to note 4 for
the disclosure on disaggregated revenue.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 July 2018 (continued)

B. HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“HKFRS 15”) (continued)

(ii)

Presentation and disclosure requirements
(continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised
only if the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. If the Group recognises the related
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration for the promised goods and services
in the contract, then the entitlement to consideration
is classified as a contract asset. Similarly, a contract
liability, rather than a payable, is recognised when
a customer pays consideration, or is contractually
required to pay consideration and the amount is
already due, before the Group recognises the related
revenue. For a single contract with the customer,
either a net contract asset or a net contract liability
is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 22 HQEBHEREEN (FEHER
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued) LEA ) (&)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective (@) FREE]RIBRT BB S &R -
1 July 2018 (continued) “E-N\FtA-BEXR@
B.  HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers B.  BEABHEEAFISHK-EFAN
(“HKFRS 15”) (continued) WA (BRI HEHEEAEI55))
(&)
(i) Presentation and disclosure requirements (i) EINRBERT(E)
(continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued) BHEERAHNAR(E)
Reclassifications were made as at 1 July 2018 to be HR-_Z—-\E+tA—B{EH
consistent with the terminology under HKFRS 15: B BENEREMBEREE
AIE1SHBT 2 ME -5
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 15
30 June 2018 Reclassification at 1 July 2018
BREEE
isEmE
BEER AR 155
RZE-N\%F RZE-N\F
~A=1H +tA—H

ZAREE ENNE ZIRHEE
e

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHL FAT FEL
Consolidated statement of SDERBRAR (BE)
financial position (extract)
Current assets hRBEE
Contract assets EHEE = 424 424
Amounts due from customers EWERFEHTRAA
for contract work 424 (424) =
Current liabilities REAE
Contract liabilities BHAE 1,216 1,216
Amounts due to customers ENEFAHTIRAA
for contract work 1,216 (1,216) =
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 July 2018 (continued)

B. HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“HKFRS 15”) (continued)

(i) Presentation and disclosure requirements
(continued)
The following tables summarise the impacts of
applying HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019 for
each of the line items affected. Line items that were
not affected by the changes have not been included.

20 FMBERUMBREER (BRMBR
2D (&7

(a) BRAVHTAT BT B BIHREER -
“E-\FLA-BER#E)
B.  BEUBHEERF T -EFRA
WA (BB B HEERF155))
(%)
(i) ERIRREREE)

TERBLRAEERBRSE
BIESREAEER =T
FRAZTRZEEHBRR
EPE-ERYEEENY
% FEPPYEHER LT
BIEER -

As at 30 June 2019
RZE-NFA=1H

Amounts

without

adoption of
HKFRS 15 Reclassification  As reported

T REWNE S

B
E Lo BHOHE mE R

|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
THT THT TAT
Consolidated statement of financial 4R &HMBERLE (BHE)
position (extract)
Trade and other payables 8 5 REMRIE 24,554 (4,274) 20,280
Contract liabilities BWAE = 4,274 4,274
(iii)  Transition (i) BE

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect
transition method and has recognised the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening accumulated profits at 1 July 2018.
Therefore, comparative information would not be
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS
11 and HKAS 18. As allowed under HKFRS 15,
the Group has applied the new requirements only
to contracts that were not completed before 1 July
2018.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 22

Notes to Financial Statements

bR eI

FRBREMBRERR (EERBER

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued) LEA) (&
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) EBEMBERERNHFTLEITE

but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group's current intention is to apply these changes on the date

they become effective.

BRBRE

REBL AR R T o] g AR BT
BREBOERMBERERDIT/EET
BEMHHREREL - KRB BRI ANEH
EBNENEHERARED -

Effective Date

ERAH
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
BRMBHEEAE 165 Gish= —E-N1%-A-H
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019
B (AR BREREREE) PSR < THETE 1 —F-NF-A—H

—BREE2%
Amendments to HKFRS 9

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

1 January 2019

BAENBIMELREF 2 BE] BEREZENSE —ZE-NF—-HA-H
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019
BRGRTERE285 2185 REtE AR REEREZ RBER —E-NF—-HA—H
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2019
BEMBRELER 2 FEIE ZE-RFEZT—tFEH —E-NF—-HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1 January 2019
BEAGFERIE195 2185] FHEIBET « RS —E-NE—H-H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture

To be determined

AN BHRELENE10RREEGS BEEHREBENAREECE ANEELER e
ZERIFE28%% 2 1E5] &

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
BAVBIMELREIR 2ER] HEB TR —T-FTF—-H—-H

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting

1 January 2020

—E-)\FEHBmE IR ER BBHE BRI SER —E-TF—-H—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material 1 January 2020

BAGHEAZ IR REAGEA HERIFEE s =
E8R BT

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

BN IMERERIE175

REBAHK

—2-—F—H—H

K& EEHER LR ER RTERME
AHASENEERMBRARLBEEAY
g EEAMBREENEI6R (R TXL
A BRI -

The Group anticipates that the application of the above new
standards and amendments to existing standards have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group,
except for HKFRS 16 as explained below:
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS
17 “Leases “and related interpretations, introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets
and liability for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under
HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.
Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of
use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash
repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an
interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows.
Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially
measured on a present value basis. The measurement includes
non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to
be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise an option to extend the lease, or to exercise an option
to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly
different from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as
operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of
leases differently.

As set out in Note 21 below, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of the Group
in respect of office premises and equipments as at 30 June 2019
amounted to approximately HK$18,646,000. The directors of the
Company do not expect the adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared
with the current accounting policy would result in significant
impact on the Group’s financial performance but it is expected
that the Group has to separately recognise the interest expense on
the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
assets, and that certain portion of the future minimum lease
payments under the Group’s operating leases will be required to
be recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liability. The Group
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the
occurrence of certain events (e.g. a change in the lease term) and
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability
as an adjustment to the right-of-use assets. In addition, payments
for the principal portion of the lease liability will be presented
within financing activities in the Group’s consolidated statement
of cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

Business combination and basis of

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”).
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the effective dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using
the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets
transferred, liability incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liability assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting
gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in
which case the costs are deducted from equity.
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B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of

consolidation (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments
to consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the
extent that they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date.
All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liability of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets
or liability were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition
plus such non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this results in those
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three
of the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there
may be a change in any of these elements of control.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase
price and the costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write
off their cost net of expected residual value over their estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the period of the
respective lease or 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 25%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 30%
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B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as
borrowing costs capitalized during the periods of construction
and installation. Capitalization of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate class
of property, plant and equipment when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use
are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated
recoverable amount.

Assets held under finance lease are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets, or where
shorter, the terms of the relevant leases.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and
its carrying amount, and is recognised in the profit or loss on
disposal.

Financial instruments
A.  Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018

(i)  Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 31 EAEiBEHME (&)

(continued)
(d) Financial instruments (continued) d) £€MIAE)
A. Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018 (continued) A ZE-\FHA-HEERZ2E
BE (&)
(i) Financial assets (continued) i)y &BMEEE)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt instruments

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Change in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses when the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
is recycled from equity to profit or loss.
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)
A. Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018 (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit
or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as
described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
are measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes
in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

bR eI

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)
A. Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018 (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on trade and other receivables,
contract assets, financial assets measured at
amortised cost and debt investments measured at
FVOCI. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date: and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The
shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to
the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade and retention receivables and contract
assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)
A. Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018 (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group's historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrate otherwise.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.
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Notes to Financial Statements

bR eI

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)
A. Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018 (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised costs
are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
and other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The related interest expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liability are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income or
interest expense over the years. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)
B.  Accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

(i)  Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are mainly classified as
loans and receivables. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and
is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They arise principally
through the provision of goods and services to
customers (trade receivables), and also incorporate
other types of contractual monetary assets. Loans and
receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements

bR eI

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)
B.  Accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018 (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting
period, whether there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (as incurred “loss event”)
and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence of impairment may include:

. significant financial difficulty of the debtor or
the group of debtors;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

. granting concession to a debtor because of
debtors’ financial difficulty; or

. it becoming probable that the debtor or the
group of debtors will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial assets such as
trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the general credit
period, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d)

Financial instruments (continued)

B.  Accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018 (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The amount of impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. When any part of
financial asset is determined to be uncollectible, it
is written off against the allowance account for the
relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, subject to a
restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables.
They are initially recognised at fair value, net of
directly attributable transaction costs incurred, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liability are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income or
interest expense over the years. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

bR eI

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)
B.  Accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018 (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the group entities
after deducting all of its liability. Equity instruments
issued by a group entity are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the Group
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to
a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

EAEHBRME(E)

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 3.1

(continued)
(d) Financial instruments (continued) d &BWIAE)
B.  Accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018 (continued) B. EBE-F-)IFNA=THEAZE
FHE(E)

(vi)  Derecognition (continued)
Financial liability are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.

(vii)  Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liability are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liability simultaneously.

(e) Construction contracts (accounting policies

applied until 30 June 2018)

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts for variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs comprise direct materials, costs of
subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate portion of
variable and fixed construction overheads.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and contract costs associated with the
construction contract are recognised as revenue and expenses
respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract activity at the end of reporting period.

Stage of completion is estimated with reference to third party
surveyor reports.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that will probably be recoverable, and contract costs
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(e) Construction contracts (accounting policies

applied until 30 June 2018) (continued)

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated
as an amount due from contract customers.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other
than the currency of the primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liability are translated at the rates ruling at the end
of reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling
when the transactions took place are used. All assets and liability
of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss
of group entities’ separate financial statements on the translation
of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net
investment in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified
to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
foreign exchange reserve.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(g) Revenue recognition

A.

Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service are
transferred by the Group to customers or at a point in time
or over time as follows:

Point in Time
(i) Sale of millwork and furniture, and facade fabrication
is recognised when the goods are delivered

Over time

(i) Income from interior solutions projects

(iii)  Maintenance service income

(iv)  Design and project consultancy service income

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For contracts where the period
between the payment and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements

bR eI

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (continued)
A. Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018 (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sale of millwork and furniture and facade fabrication
(point in time)

Customers obtain control of the sale of millwork and
furniture, and facade fabrication when the goods
are delivered to and have been accepted. Therefore,
revenue is recognised upon when the customers
accepted the millwork and furniture, and facade
fabrication.

Income from interior solutions projects (over time)

The Group satisfies its performance obligation by
completing the delivery and installation of interior
solutions projects to customers. The management
would recognised over time based on input method.

Maintenance service income (over time)

The revenue from provision maintenance services,
which provide a services over a length of time. Thus,
customers simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits for maintenance services over the time and
the Group would recognise the revenue over the time
accordingly.

Design and project consultancy service income (over
time)

The revenue from provision of design and project
consultancy services, which provide services over
a length of time. Thus, customers simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits for general
advisory services over the time and the Group would
recognise the revenue over the time accordingly.

Other income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (continued)

A.

Accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018 (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset is recognised over the period in which
the services are performed representing the Group’s right
to consideration for the services performed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance
in achieving specified milestones. The contract assets
are transferred to trade debtors when the rights become
unconditional.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (continued)
Accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018

B.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Income from interior solutions projects is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the contracts,
provide that the stage of contract completion and
the contract costs of the contracting work can be
measured reliably. The stage of completion of a
contract is established by reference to the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to
date bear to the estimated total contract costs (Note

3.1(e);

Design and project consultancy service income is
recognised upon services rendered;

Sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and the risks and rewards of ownership
have passed to the customer; and

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

EAEHBRME(E)

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 3.1
(continued)

(h) Frie®

Income taxes (h)

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liability for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for recognised assets and liability that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liability are
recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liability are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items directly recognised in other comprehensive income
in which case the taxes are also directly recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(i)

Provisions and contingent liability

Provisions are recognised for liability of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liability unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
at their fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding lease commitment is shown
as a liability. Lease payments are analysed between capital and
interest. The interest element is charged to the profit or loss over
the period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents a
constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital element
reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are charged
to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives received are recognised as an integrated part of
the total rental expense, over the term of the lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(k)

Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the

carrying amounts of assets (other than inventories and financial
assets) to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset or cash generating unit.

Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operates outside Hong Kong are required to participate
in pension schemes. The Company is required to make
contributions for these employees, pursuant to the local
regulations. The contributions are charged to profit or loss,
as they become payable in accordance with the respective
rules of the pension schemes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(N

Employee benefits (continued)
(i)~ Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised when they
accrue to employees. In particular, a provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.
Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time

of leave.

(iii) ~ Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks which are not restricted as to use.

Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the

Group or the Group's parent.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B A% M o

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(n) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and
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3.1

3.2

Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(n) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (continued)

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liability, and the disclosure of contingent liability, at the end of each
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liability within the next financial year, are described
below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in
the assumptions when they occur.

(a)  Construction contract revenue recognition

Recognised amounts of construction contract revenue and related
receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each contract’s
outcome and stage of completion, which are determined on the
basis of a number of estimates. This includes the assessment of
the profitability of on-going construction contracts during the
reporting period. For more complex contracts in particular, costs
to complete and contract profitability are subject to significant
estimation uncertainty. The actual outcomes in terms of total cost
or revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the end
of each reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SR Mot

3.2 Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

(b)  Impairment of trade and other receivables and contract assets
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit loss in respect of trade and retention receivables
and contract assets. The provision rates are based on groupings
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns and the Group’s
historical default rates (taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is receivable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition, trade
and retention receivables and contract assets with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for expected credit loss
individually.

(c)  Recognition of deferred tax assets

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based
on an assessment of the probability of the Group's future taxable
profit against which the deferred tax assets can be utilised, which
involves a number of assumptions and estimates relating to the
operating environment of the Group and requires a significant
level of judgement exercised by management. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the profit in future
periods.

(d)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
on a periodic basis, and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. Such circumstances or events could include an
adverse change in the business or market in which the asset is
involved.

Determining whether an impairment has occurred typically
requires various estimates and assumptions, including determining
what cash flow is directly related to the potentially impaired asset,
the useful life over which cash flows will occur, their amount and
the asset’s residual value, if any. Estimates of future cash flows
and the selection of appropriate discount rates relating to the
asset involve the exercise of a significant amount of judgement.
Further details of the accounting policy on the impairment of the
property, plant and equipment are provided in note 3.1(k).
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Notes to Financial Statements

Segment Information

Operating segments

The Group was principally engaged in the trading of millwork,
furniture and facade fabrication and provision of interior design, project
consultancy, maintenance and interior solutions services. Information
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the
operating results of the Group as a whole, as the Group’s resources are
integrated and no discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The following table sets out the information about the geographical
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers and
non-current assets other than financial instruments (“Specified
non-current assets”).

The Group comprises the following main geographical segments:

(a)

BB R M

2 HER

KEnH

AEETENEHESR FBRIARSD KER
BRMENRRHEARS BERH RELE
RERTRRS - ROBRERLHERR  AAK
EIRLERRERENEHENTINARER
BoR2%E RAKENERR-AYEBUL
BENHABER - Rt TEFILENHBER -

TREFIBEARERBIBEPUAZHELE
ZEMURBERTRIMERDEE ([HEEFR
BEE] -

TEEZIEMROBERMT :

(a)

Revenue from external customers

2019 2018

B (i)

Hong Kong (place of domicile)

Asia (excluding Hong Kong and the People’s

Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”) (T E ) BRAN
PRC h
Europe B
United States (“US”) ENBARE([ER])
Middle East PR
Others Hit

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.
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SN (BERPEARKME

RESNDEFHRA
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT
29,736 29,678
4,533 23,053
1,616 1,126
38,092 3,708
9,995 11,798
11,364 1,362
- 816
65,600 41,863
95,336 71,541

LOIMAER RERE AN



Notes to Financial Statements

BRI EE

4. Segment Information (continued)

Geographical information (continued)
(b)

AWEH (F)
WEER (F)

(b)

Specified non-current assets

2019 2018

Hong Kong (place of domicile)
PRC
Europe

B (i)

i
B

(c) Information about major customers
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenue during the year is as follows:

(c)

HEHRBEE
HK$'000 HK$’000
TET THET
4,567 5,838
- 1
22 27
4,589 5,866
TEXFEN

RER - REGEAEEBKA10% A EM
EERABADT

2019 2018

Client A
Client B
Client C
Client D

Total (Note)
* Less than 10% of the Group’s revenue

Note:

BEA
ZFB
BEC
ZFD
Bt (hat)

The total amount represents the sum of revenue attributed from the customers
that accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during the year

and therefore this sum excluded the amount hidden in “*”

above.
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TET TRT
25,237 12,102
21,998 *
* 8,932
11,265 *
58,500 21,034
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4. Segment Information (continued) 4,

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary geographical
markets, major products and service lines and timing of revenue

recognition.
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers BFEHRAZD
Sales of millwork Sales of facade Interior solution Maintenance Design and project
and furniture fabrication projects services consultancy services Total
HESE RRER
RAGRHE HERERE EMBRIRER RER% Rt RIERHARHE st

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000
TEn | TEr TEn | TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn  TEr TEn @ TR
Primary geographical markets  FEH 5
- Hong Kong ~B% 5,048 3,730 13,060 - 9,810~ 23,282 860 - 958 2606 29736 29,678

- Asia (excluding -BH (&R R
Hong Kong and PRC) hERID) 463 13915 - 4555 3488 3,004 3N - m 689 4533 23,033
-PRC il 1527 1,066 - - - - 58 - 31 60 1616 1126
Europe B 3811 337 600 23 - - 79 - 140 100 38092 3,708
Us. 3] 999 11,79 - - - - - - - - 9995 11,798
Middle Fast hR 578 1354 589 - - - - - 296 § 11364 1362
Others it - 816 - - - - - - - - - 816
Total it 54022 36055 25012 4787 13296 27176 1308 - 16% 353 95336 71541
Timing of revenue recognition ~ MABER ZBHZ 5
Under HKFRS 15 REEBHHREED
2155
- Ata point in time -RERH 54,002 - 50 - - - - -
- Over time -BE-BER - - - 13,298 1,308 - 16% -
Under HKAS 18 REEAG LY
£18% - 3605 - 478 - - - -3 - T4
54022 36055 25012 4787 1329 27176 1308 - 16% 3523 95336 71541
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Other (Loss)/ 5. WA BB AREM(FE) K&

Gain
Revenue includes the net invoiced value of goods sold, design, project BABEAEEHESR RER BEEHAR
consultancy and maintenance service rendered and contract revenue RERBZEZFEARZABRTREE AN
earned from the interior solutions projects by the Group. The amounts BHRA - RERCHERAZEZENNRALEH
of each significant category of revenue recognised during the year are as Sl
follows:
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Time of revenue recognition WARRZBRZHE (REERBRE
(within the scope of HKFRS 15) ERF15HEZEEA)
Revenue - at a point in time BA-RERRE
Sales of products HEEM
- Millwork and furniture —B BERIAERREE 54,022 36,055
— Facade fabrication —RiERE 25,012 4,787
Revenue - over time WA -8 - REME
Income from interior solutions projects X S ES =R N 13,298 27,176
Maintenance service income RERBEWA 1,308 =
Design and project consultancy service income KAt RIE B ARBIRA 1,696 3,523
95,336 71,541
An analysis of the Group's other income and other (loss)/gain recognised FAEERNFACEANEMBRAREM (B]) /K
during the year is as follows: #OAFTWT
TS T)
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz Tx
Other income HttA
Bank interest income BRITMBBA 298 134
Management income 5320 ON 384 176
682 310
Other (loss)/gain Rt (B58) /K
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment — HEWZ - B k& fEHKE - 2
Bad debt written off s =R (172) -
Exchange (loss)/gain, net EX(&8) WaFE (386) 321
(558) 323
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6. Loss before Income Tax Expense 6. BRFBHAXAESR
The Group’s loss before income tax expense is arrived at after charging/ FEBZRAGHALAEBEMR /GIA)
(crediting):
s ST}
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEL
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 0¥ BERIEONE 1,569 1,503
Operating lease rentals in respect of: KeheEde A8
— Land and buildings -t REF 5,518 5,739
~ Plant and equipment -BERR 124 128
Auditor’s remuneration (122Gl e 798 680
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment  HEWE - BE KR EH R - 2)
Exchange (loss)/gain, net B (BR) /s 548 386 (321)
Bad debt written off MHE R 172 =
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ and ~ ESEHFX (BEEER
chief executive’s remuneration): FTETHRAEMS) :
Wages and salaries TERE M 22,000 21,711
Post-employment benefits - contribution to defined ~ BER& 1R — FE #30
contribution retirement plan* RIRGH B2 R 558 552
Other benefits At a7 2,032 2,315
* At 30 June 2019, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce * RoF-NENAZ+H  FEFUEERNET T
its contributions to the pension scheme in future years (2018: Nil). PR BRRIFRZ RN EIGHH (—F N
FoHE) -
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7. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 7. EERFIETHAEMS
Remuneration
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed BEER TR BERARENBEAFEZE
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance is as ERIZTRAEMEMT
follows:
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FTAT
Fees e 981 1,074
Other emoluments: Hiie
Salaries, bonus, allowances B - 124 2R REDHE
and benefits in kind 6,596 8,391
Pension scheme contributions RINE BN 59 72
6,655 8,463
7,636 9,537
(a) Independent non-executive directors @ BIFHTEES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the AERCNTBUFHTESZ2HRENT:

year were as follows:

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET
Mr. So Chi Hang HEBEE 173 158
Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (Note (i) B N (B EE) 44 155
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen, Franklin EFNT: it 173 158
Mr. Tang Yu Ming (Note (ii)) B S A (Wa) 14 -
Mr. Shing Wai Yip (Note (iii)) PB4 (W i) 70 -
474 471
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent RAEEREENBIIFNTESN L
non-executive directors during the year (2018: Nil). 2(ZE-N\F 8-
Notes: Kt
(i) On 12 October 2018, Mr. Lau Lap Yan John resigned as the 1] REF-NNFE+A+=H BVALLEET
independent non-executive director of the Company. ARAEFTHHTEE -
(i) On 12 October 2018, Mr. Tang Yu Ming (“Mr. Tang”) was appointed (i) REF-NNE+A+=-H FHEAL([H
as the independent non-executive director of the Company. On AL BELARBERTBEVHRITES o B
14 November 2018, Mr. Tang passed away and ceased to be the ZE-NEF-ATHA  HELHERT
independent non-executive director of the Company. ARERTETHNTEE -
(i)~ On 25 January 2019, Mr. Shing Wai Yip was appointed as the i)  REF-NF-A=+HR REEELE
independent non-executive director of the Company. FARERABTHHITEE -

150 e o o 0 O —T—AFEH{E Annual Report 2019



7.

Notes to Financial Statements

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Remuneration (continued)

(b)

Executive directors and chief executive

7.

bR eI

EERTETHAEME (&
b) BTESRIETHBAR

Contribution
Salaries, to defined
bonus, contribution

allowance  retirement Total
Fees and benefits plans remuneration
e
TE4L ERHEK
R RIREHE

we  EpNE e

e
p
S

Year ended 30 June 2019 BZ-_E-hEANA=THLEE

Executive directors: HITESE
Mr. Lee Wai Sang* FRE4E K
Mr. Leung Pak Yin RIRAKE
Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman TR (H3E3)
(Note (i)
Mr. Lau King Lok Elle St

Year ended 30 June 2018 BZ-_E-N\EANA=THLEE

Executive directors: WITESE:
Mr. Lee Wai Sang* FRE4E K
Mr. Leung Pak Yin RIRAKE
Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman REEMEAE
Mr. Lau King Lok el e St
* Mr. Lee Wai Sang is also the chief executive officer of the Company.

During the current and prior years, none of the directors
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were
no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the directors
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Note:

(i) On 12 October 2018, Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman resigned as the
executive director of the Company.

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT

160 4174 18 4,352
150 959 18 1,127

42 143 5 190
155 1,320 18 1,493
507 6,596 59 7,162
150 5,428 18 5,596
150 1,018 18 1,186
150 545 18 713
153 1,400 18 1,571
603 8,391 72 9,066

* FEEXLENBERAZLETHAR °

RENRBEFE  BEEFHEIATH
SEAHE - AAREYERAENEELN
B fEAMAREESMAKEE % 2 2H
SRR -

it -

0 RoE-NETATIE  BENELRE
ARDHGEF
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8.

Five Highest Paid Employees and Senior
Management’s Emoluments

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2018:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 7
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2018: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company, are as follows:

hEREFHEERSREEENE

rERIEARRFMERBR =R (ZF-N\F:
ZR)ES - HMe IR EXME7 - AFEEHS
Wa(ZE-N\F: @mR) L ARAEERTRIT
BABZSaHHERZHMEFENT -

Basic salaries, bonus and other benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions

EREF B

Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

EXGM  EARAMEDN S

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$/000
FET FET
1,443 1,445
36 36
1,479 1,481

HEZHHBR THHEA :

Number of employees

RE#EA
2019 2018

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Z %1,000,0007 7T

During the current and prior years, none of the five highest paid
individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there
were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Senior management’s emoluments excluding

the directors
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management
(excluding the directors) were within the following bands:

2 2

RENRBAFE B SEHMALEENES
AEREEANS - AAEBYEARTEEHH
ATERBRERMASRES AL EEE 2 22
HAERALE -

EREERE (BEERM 2H2

ARREREKE (E2HN CHRER 2 HEE
RTIIEER :

Number of employees

EEHE
2019 2018

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Z 1,000,000 7T

Two members of senior management whose emoluments are included
in five highest paid individuals as set out in the note above (2018: two
members).
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9. Income Tax Expense

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

BB R M

GRBERAMRARERTASHAXESRE:

2019 2018

BB -FRNEHR
-BEFREERA

Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax
— overprovision in respect of prior years

SR —SRIM B
~RERHR

Current tax — overseas profits tax
— tax for the year

Deferred tax credit/(expense) (Note 17)
P HEY

Income tax expense
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is exempted
from income tax. It is not subject to tax in other jurisdictions.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year
and the prior year.

Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated at the
rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.
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HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
53 70

(88) (133)

7 (146)

(28) (209)

ARARFRERSEMALLERRHAEH - £
ARMELEEERMBIA -

RZE-NEZA-+-HB BBEULCESB
(Q017F B 1% (BR]) (F75%) BHIER) ([EHIE
) SIARBHERMRH - RHERR=Z-N
FZAZTNREERBLRE URBATE-R
BREHRERRS - 4 EREEEES2,000,0004
TR R £8.25%:5 5 » MiB2,000,000/
TLZ BRI RBE16.5%2H ° TRHAFISHER
BHNEEER 2GS EER 6.5%ME —FiX
B

ARAKERTEER LFREYEEMREEEN
ERBEHN - AL L EIFLEBFGHEME -

SEONHI B A R R B MM BB IR AR B RDAHE R
MERREGE -
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9. Income Tax Expense (continued) 9. FEHEX(E)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before FERZAERAXTERGABRE LM 2ER
income tax expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and HRABHAERAXABESROT

other comprehensive income as follows:

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000
% 7
Loss before income tax expense B TS E B X B 1R (9,606) (22,731)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) RERBE16.5%
(ZB—\F 1 16.5%) B 1,585 3,751
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAEERELHOMBAF
operating in other jurisdictions 7FH%R$E']$M%?¢ & 248 356
Tax effect of non-taxable income RRBAZHBTE 177 93
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHBRAXZ HBRE (1,571) (1,832)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERARBEE BB Y2 (1,025) (2,521)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised PRBARERZHEABR 576 5
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBRREER 54 70
Withholding tax SEEIL 43) (124)
Others Hft (29) (7)
Income tax expense FEHRAX (28) (209)
10. Dividend 10. RE
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year ARAIRBEZ jlﬁ/\ﬂ THEFERES
ended 30 June 2019 (2018: Nil). BEERT ) ( —N\F ) -
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11. Losses per Share 1. BRER
The calculation of the basic losses per share amount is based on the loss FREAEEEBIBEARALBRIESE AR
for the year attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company, HAFEERRAFECETERRZ METHH
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,400,000,000 2,400,000,0008% (=% — J\ & : 2,400,000,000%)
(2018: 2,400,000,000) in issue during the year. AE-
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the AEERBE-Z-NER-T-N\EXA=1H
years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018. IHFEYEARERENE CETERR -
The calculation of the basic losses per share attributable to the ordinary AR ERBRESEAREZERETERLRE
equity holders of the Company is based on the following data: AT EEAE -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Losses BR
Losses for the purpose of basic losses per share AR EEREABRE BR (9,634) (22,940)
Number of shares
b=
TR T
‘000 ‘000
R *H
Number of shares ROHE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EEREAER & BR
for the purpose of basic losses per share MEFE 2,400,000 2,400,000
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment

i

12. NE BERRE

Construction Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
in progress  improvement  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HE
g1 nERE GAERKE WRRE e @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TAL TAL TER TEL

Cost A&
At 1July 2017 RZZ2—+FtA—H 3,563 - 137 1,019 1,019 5738
Additions e 391 2,309 120 244 35 3,099
Disposals & - - - - (35) (35)
Transfer from constructionin ~ BEBRERIRE

progress (3,954) 2,756 868 330 - -
Exchange adjustment %A% - - - 3 - 3
At30 June 2018 and 1July 2018  RZZ—\ERA=THR

ZZ-N\FLA-A - 5,005 1125 1,59 1,019 8,805
Additions AE - 103 51 138 - 292
Disposals ik - - - (15) - (15)
Exchange adjustment X % - - - (4) - (4)
At 30 June 2019 R-F-NERA=1H - 5,168 1176 1,715 19 9,078
Accumulated depreciation RiHE
At 1 July 2017 RZE—tE+A-H = - 46 37 1,019 1437
Provided for the year FERE - 960 27 270 2 1,503
Eliminated on disposals HH & 3 - - - - 2) 2)
Exchange adjustment AR - - - 1 - 1
At30June 2018 and 1July 2018 RZE-A\FXA=THR
“E-\FtA-H - 960 317 643 1,019 2939

Provided for the year FEER - 994 285 290 - 1,569
Eliminated on disposals It 85 5 13 - - - (15) - (15)
Exchange adjustment i3S - - - @ = @
At 30 June 2019 R-F-nERA=tR S 602 94 09 4489
Net book value REFHE
At 30 June 2019 RZF-NERA=1H - 3,214 574 801 - 4,589
At30 June 2018 R-F-N\FRA=1H - 4105 808 953 - 5,866
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13. Trade and Other Receivables 13. EREZREMHNE
2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
i TR THT
Trade receivables B4 E 53R i 10,696 8,374
Retention receivables EYIRE & i 1,068 1,566
Deposits and other receivables Bé R HE 3R ii 3,364 2,816
Prepayments BNHE ii 1,732 3,822
Total st 16,860 16,578
Less: Non-current portion W B
Deposit e ii (2,816) (1,328)
Total current portion B D BT 14,044 15,250
Notes: et -
(i) (i)
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Trade receivables JEWE S 10,696 8374
Less: Loss allowance W EERE - -
10,696 8,374
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The Group does not hold any [EREB GHBEITIE - FEBUARZSEHHE
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances. Except for one BB FREM A EERE - —E5EFE
customer with 60 days credit granted, no credit period is granted by the Group RT0RMEERS)  FEFTRAEMESEFPR
to its trade customers. Application for progress payments of projects is made on FEEH - @B EEMNFTHES
a regular basis.
During the year ended 30 June 2019, bad debt of approximately HK$172,000 REAZZF-NFNA=THIEFE - #9172,0005
was written off against trade receivable directly. T B EELERE S EM Y -
The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented based on the JEWE BB Gl 7T (HEZEABZI) T -

invoice dates:

2019 2018

HK$000 HK$000

FET FET

Less than 1 month TEB—1EA 204 2,124
1 to 3 months —Z==1EA 8,094 3,748
3 to 6 months =Z1EAH 1,837 103
More than 6 months but less than 1 year INE AU LB TEE B —F 9 2,297
More than 1 year —FL L 552 102
10,696 8,374
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13. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

Notes:
(i) (continued)

As at 30 June 2018, the ageing of trade receivables that are not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

3. BREZREMREE)

Rt -

(i)

(&)

REB-NEAA=1H  #RBEHEESIEE
BHENEREZHEZRENT

2018

Neither past due nor impaired

Less than T month past due

1 to 3 months past due

More than 3 months past due but less than 12 months
More than 1 year past due

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers
for whom there is no recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to customers
that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management is of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in
respect of these receivables as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the credit risk is minimal.

(i) Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works are released
after the completion of maintenance period of the relevant contracts or in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.

Retention receivables as at 30 June 2019 were neither past due nor impaired
and expected to be recovered within 1 year after the reporting period. These
related to customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

(iii)  The above balances of other receivables, prepayments and deposits as at 30
June 2019 were neither past due nor impaired. Financial assets included in
these balances are non-interest bearing and relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables are set out in note 25.
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HK$000

FET

BEARA IR B 643
TEE—1E e 4,201
—Z=AAEH 1,028
BB = Fa B E TR+ = 1EA 2,400
BB 102
8,374

(i)

(i)

BERBHIAHEZ EWNE 5 HBELELHAR
LHRNELEE o

ERHERFEZENEGHRERLEEHFR
HFRELHNEPER - BREHER  ERERS
HERYARHEL B RERE W OBRER
BXUEEAZEAEHEAREN -

EPRENTENBZ RECREHANRELS
REARBEEEE R E RIS -

RZB-NFNA=TH  BURELIEXBHT
FHELBHARFEFRE —FARE - ZEHE
BT EERORELFE

REB-NEXA=1H  EMERIE  BFE
K28 LABRTERDIIARE - ZEEHE
HHE B EETE AT EBRTRZ BN
HEEH -

BRAEE EERFEUNRERKE SR AN
B2 EERBEE— P BN 25 -
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14. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2019 2018

Cash and bank balances Be RRITHEER
Time deposits e
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEED

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$2,653,000
(2018: HK$3,905,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Certain of the Group’s cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short-term time deposit rates.
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14 BERREEEY

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TR
27,989 44,791
12,020 =
40,009 44,791

RBEHLEER REBUARE (AR &
EZRERBEEEMAHL653,0005T(=ZF—\
F:3,905,00087T) - ARERITEMIRARM
S AMBEDERMIETHERREE &
ERNEEEHET AEETEREEETINEE
BZRITBARELBRARMEY -

FEBERFTCETRSENEBRITERME
BFBMERINE - EHERER T AERY
NF-BEZAALE  RTAEEZHAEREF
KME - IR RIS HE B KA R ERERFI 8 o
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15. Trade and Other Payables 15. ENEZREMHNE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL
Trade payables (note (a)) FE B 5 508 (Hi7Ha) 10,458 4,170
Receipts in advance (note (b)) TWRIR (H5t b)) - 6,599
Other payables and accruals (note (c)) Hit e R IE ST FRIR (M) 10,272 10,523
Total st 20,730 21,292
Less: Non-current portion W B
Other payable (note (c)) H o R 53R (B 2Hc)) (450) (609)
Total current portion MENE D BT 20,280 20,683
Notes: et -
(a)  An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: @  ENEGHBEZEGIT (RERAH) T -
HK$°000 HK$000
FET BT
Current or less than 1 month BB e T — 1AL A 2,561 1,273
1 to 3 months —Z2=1EAH 6,472 1,821
4 to 6 months JLEay ] 568 436
7 to 12 months +Z=1+=1FH 839 548
More than 1 year —FL L 18 92
10,458 4,170
The Group’s trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally have FEERENESTRITHE - BEEHREE B
payment terms of 0 to 90 days. 0Z90H »

(b)  As at 30 June 2018, receipts in advance represented advance payment from b  RZFE-NENA=FH FRTEDEPHENT

the customers in connection with the contract works and sales. Receipts in ERHEHEZFEITFIE - BU BB EREHA
advance are expected to be recognised as revenue of the Group within 1 year HE—FAEZEFEEZLA -
from the reporting date.
Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, consideration received in advance from REREEGBHEERE 1555  HHEERME
customers for sales of products and service income previously included as KELZREURRHERABLERANENESR
“Receipt in advance” under “Trade and other payables” (presented in above) HEMFE (R EXEF) BT [EYFE  BEEE
were re-classified to contract liabilities. HABELHALE -

(c)  Other payables under current portion are non-interest bearing and have ©  EBHGTZEMERTEITHEATFHEES
average payment terms of 31 to 90 days. A31290H e
Other payable under non-current portion is non-interest bearing and expected FRBEBH T2 EAMENTNERTHEREHER
to be settled more than twelve months after the reporting period. HEHEEBT—F7E -

180 e o o 0 O —T—AFEH{E Annual Report 2019



16. Contract Liabilities’/Amounts Due from/(to)
Customers for Contract Work

Notes to Financial Statements

BB R M

6. ANEE/EBY/ (BN EFEHNT
BHE

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTAET THEL
Contracts in progress at the end of the year: RERERIRAN
Contract costs incurred EEERLNA - 2,275
Recognised profits less recognised loses ERRENRE #REE - 358
- 2,633
Less: Progress billings W EERR - (3,425)
Total st - (792)
Included in current liabilities are the following: RPRABABREUTEER:
Amounts due from customers for contract work EREFEHTIERE - 424
Amounts due to customers for contract work EREFEHNIERE - (1,216)
Contract liabilities (Note (i) BNEE W) (4,274) -
Total current portion RENER st (4,274) (792)
Note: st -
(i) The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced consideration received (i) AHEBETEZEHRENEFZEHIRE-

form customers.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, consideration received in advance from
customers for sales of products and service income previously included as
“Receipt in advance” under “Trade and other payables” (Note 15) were re-
classified to contract liabilities.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current

REAE B BFREERE 55K - RHEERRE
BUATREEL 2 BT EEBETAENES
REMFE | (Wzt15) B T2 [BUHE] HEEH

NEERNEE

TXITHEHBER YR EMRAFREZZUA

year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. k2
Design and
Millwork Interior project
and Facade solutions  consultancy
furniture fabrication projects service Total
2 #il R
HBEARSE zAgt  BA |
R&A e g TREH B it
|
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET THET TET FET FET
Revenue recognised that was included Gt A F I Z A4 E EZHZ 3,926 2,424 247 2 6,599

EBZUA

in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the year

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
recognised are as follow:

When the Group receives a deposit before the service commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The
Group typically receives a 5% deposit from certain customers before the
service commences.

The Group’s contracts usually have duration of one year or less from date of
contract inception to date of satisfaction of performance obligation. The Group
has applied the practical expedient and therefore does not include information
about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that had an original expected
duration of one year or less.
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17. Deferred Tax 17. BEHRB
Details of the deferred tax liability recognised and movements during RAFEZERRBECHBABREDHENT

the year are as follows:

Accelerated
depreciation

allowance
MEFERHR
|
HK$’000
FHAT
At 1 July 2017 RZZ—t5+tA—H (55)
Charged to profit or loss for the year (Note 9) BAFERENME (#79) (146)
At 30 June 2018 RZZ-N\FRA=1H (201)
Credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 9) HARFERR (Hi29) 7
At 30 June 2019 RZB-hFARA=1H (194)
As at 30 June 2019, certain subsidiaries of the Group had estimated AEEETHBRARAR-E-NEAAZTHRE
tax losses arising in Hong Kong amounting to approximately BEE BRI HIEEE428,328,0008 7 (ZT—N
HK$28,328,000 (2018: HK$25,602,000) that are available indefinitely % 125,602,000 7T) * AIERBAERHELES
for offsetting against their future taxable profits of those companies in BROZZRARNARRERTEN - ARBATKAA
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised AR ERDUG A AT AR EHTURER - MU B
in respect of these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable FZEFRERRLERAEE - HEBRA BB
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. Tax 8o
losses can be carried forward indefinitely.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AARMRREKN RS M EFAEHREAR

dividends by the Company to the shareholders.

18. Share Capital 18. BRA&
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREMBOVETZ LBR
|
Number HK$
gt G BT
Authorised: ETE
At 1 July 2017, 30 June 2018, RZZ—+Ft+tA-H"
1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 —Z-\FXA=TH"
“Z-N\FLA-BR
—Z-NEARA=TH 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRAR
At 1 July 2017, 30 June 2018, RZZE—tFt+tH-H"
1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 “E-N\FERA=TH"
“2-N\FEtA-BK
“Z-NERA=TH 2,400,000,000 24,000,000
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19.

20.

Notes to Financial Statements

Reserves

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
each reporting period are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

The nature and purpose of reserves within equity are as follows:

(i) Share premium
Share premium account of the Group represents the excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued.

(i) Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the investment costs in subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the issued share capital of the Group’s subsidiaries.

(ii)  Exchange reserve
It comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

(iv)  Accumulated losses
It represents cumulative net profits or losses recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Share Option Scheme

Shareholders of the Company have conditionally adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) on 22 August 2016.

A summary of the Scheme is set out as below:

(i)  The Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date on which Scheme becomes
unconditional.

(i) Under the Scheme, a subscription price shall be a price
solely determined by the board of directors and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share on the date of grant of the option.
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A%H
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i REEE
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(i) it BR
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B8
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BB 8 (318 -
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20. Share Option Scheme (continued) 2. BRETE(E

(iii)  An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven (ii)
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

(ivy  The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all (iv)
options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose,
shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted
but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Company’s shares in issue
as at the listing date or the date of approval of the refreshed limit.

RHBRENENRMELBHERAOAH
(BHEZRA)EFCARER -

AITERIER 8 LA R AR E BB
B TR MMM A RBREM A T HTARN
BELR GRS TRERTEERE
BRESRARAEFMAMERE 8
RO RMEBEREMA TERITORD) &
HAGHREARARN LT B HREEHRE
BHERSZ 2HEETRMMI0% -

No options have been granted since the adoption of the Scheme. B R BUA R B L B ARE -
21. Commitments 21, &R
(a) Operating lease commitments () HEHERE

The Group leases certain of its office premises and equipments
under operating lease arrangements which were negotiated for
terms ranging from one to six years (2018: one to six years).

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are due as follows:

TERERBEEHETHERETHAE
NERRE BHEEBFRA—E2RF(ZF
—NF:—ERF) -

TAHHEEEHEZARSERENF R
MEHERMT :

Not later than one year THEB—F
Later than one year and not later than five years #iB—FETBRARF

(b) Capital commitments (b)
The Group had capital commitments in respect of property, plant
and equipment as at 30 June 2019 as follows:

2019 2018

Contracted, but not provided for BT EREE
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2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
5,128 4,979
13,518 17,227
18,646 22,206
EREE
AEER-Z-NFAAZ+EEBANE -
WE KRB BRAERT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAET TET
7,735 -




22. Related
()

Notes to Financial Statements

Party Transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere

in the consolidated financial statements during the reporting
period, the Group entered into the following significant
transactions with its related parties as follows:

2019 2018

Purchases of woodwork from related companies

Contract revenue from interior solutions projects
from a related company

Design and project consultancy service income
from a related company

Sales of millwork and furniture to a related company

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
from a related company

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

FEAH A A REA RS
KE-—HEBARZER

K8 —FBY AR 2 Kt
RERRARBFEA

BRERARRIARKE
BE R& G

The amount represents purchases of woodwork from Max Furniture
Shenzhen Company Limited (“Max Furniture”) (2019: HK$33,000;
2018: HK$54,000) and Max Contracting Limited (“Max Contracting”)
(2019: HK$1,313,000; 2018: HK$2,764,000). Mr. Lee Wai Sang is
a director and has approximately 33.3% beneficial interest in Max
Contracting. Mr. Lee Wai Sang also has approximately 33.3% beneficial
interest in Max Furniture.

The amount represents income from interior solutions projects (2019:
HK$138,000; 2018: HK$3,669,000) from HFL Limited. Mr. Lee Wai
Sang is a director of HFL Limited. As at 30 June 2019, Mr. Lee Wai Sang
and Ms. Leung Mo Shan, Jackie have 24.2% (30 June 2018: 45%)
beneficial interests in HFL Limited.

The amount represents income from design and project consultancy
service (2019: HK$12,000; 2018: HK$12,000) from HFL Limited.

The amount represents income from sales of millwork and furniture
(2019: HK$500, 2018: HK$15,000) to HFL Limited.

The amount represents selling price of property, plant and equipment
from Max Contracting (2019: HK$35,000; 2018: HK$7,000).
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A-FEBARHESE
A-REEARRENE -
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2. BEAIRS

(@)

B

REVBRREMEAARENII R

BRI NBREHE AREEKA TR
BHNZEARS :

Notes

i3
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

(v)

HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TR
1,346 2,818

138 3,669
12 12
1 15
35 7

it -

(i)

(i1)

(ifi)

(iv)

v)

BE+ERARNLATE (FY) R
([ZAFEA)(ZF—NF 33,0008 =
E—/)IF - 54,00087T) REARF THEBR
Ral([ZAFH) (ZF—NE 1,313,000
BT ZF—VE 2,764,000 ) REK
B FEAFLEBFAR S EEIHE
H33.3%Em i o FELALETREAR
BBEHI2.3%E s

BRE&BREKEBERERL A EAE
REREBR KA (ZFE—AE 138000
T ZF—1E : 3,669,000FT) - FlE4E
AEREERERNAZEE - RZF— /1
FNAZFH  FELALREZHL LR
JEBIEBIRAAEE24.2%(—F—1ENH
ZFH45%) En e e

BETERAREAFEERAAZZTR
BB #AEBEZ WA (ZFE—AF 12,000
BT ZF=NF 120008 7) °

BREEBRXRGEEERAFIHEDE
BERAZGZUA (ZE—NEF : 5008
i ZFE=JUE 15,0008 7T) °

B BREZXETARGZYE  BER
REZEE(ZFE-NF 3500081 =F
—/JVE : 7,000#7T) °
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22. Related Party Transactions (continued)

23.

(b)

Outstanding balances with related parties:

2. BBRAIRS (&)
b) EBEFZENRESES

Maximum Maximum
balance balance
outstanding outstanding
during the year during the year
FRE&D FRES
2019 REBEE 2018 KEEBLEER
]
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHET FET TR
Year end balance included in trade T AEKREZRHMHEZ
and other receivables FRER
HFL Limited BREERAA - 376 3 1,825
Year end balance included in trade ~ FAEMEZREMAEZ
and other payables FREH
Max Contracting BARRF 891 392

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Details of directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration
and five highest paid employees are included in notes 7 and 8,
respectively.

Summary of Financial Assets and Financial
Liability by Category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(© AEEIZEEEAEZHM:

EXRIBTBRAERMEURTAREHM
BEZFBEDRENABERAMFT S

23. gﬁEU%IﬁZQE!ﬁE&QE!EEH

RESHEEAERERTAZRAENT

Financial assets TREE
T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FAET
At amortised cost BB
Financial assets included in trade and other AARKESREMFEL CREE
receivables 15,128 =
Cash and cash equivalents REeRRCEEY 40,009 -
Loan and receivables EXREWRFTE
Financial assets included in trade and other AARKESREMFEL CREE
receivables - 12,756
Cash and cash equivalents REeRRCEEY - 44,791
55,137 57,547
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23. Summary of Financial Assets and Financial B RERNESZeMEERCMAEN

Liability by Category (continued) (&
Financial liabilities tHaR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEL
Financial liabilities at amortised cost NBERAIRzEHAR
Financial liabilities included in trade AARNESREMFEZ ERAE
and other payables 20,280 12,888
20,280 12,888
24. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 24, SRMIAZAYHE
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash EREDHE A RReFEN HARKES
equivalents, financial assets included in trade and other receivables and REMFEZ 2 REENRARMNE S REMR
financial liability included in trade and other payables approximate to HyemBBE A TEEERECREERE
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these EHRZSIANEHNIE -
instruments.
The fair value of the non-current portion of deposit has been calculated ReZHRYHBHATECEBLEFH  FER
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently R T R SRS 2 TR B ARSI R
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining ERRRRERERBMEL
maturities.
The fair values of the financial assets and liability are included at the SREERBBECATERBRE S GFRARE
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current BEE) ZHNENRSPEIRENTANSE
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation N
sale.
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25. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 25, BEEBEERERIEK
Policies
The Group’s principal financial instrument comprises cash and bank AEECZIESRTADERERBTES - e
balances. The main purpose of this financial instrument is to raise RIAZIZEANERRIEEZEERIEES -
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other TEEERSBENOREERGRE NEKES
financial assets and liability such as trade and other receivables REMPTEANENE S REMHE  HEZHR
and trade and other payables, which arise directly from the Group’s EEEXBEL-
operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are FEECRIBEL I ZRABANERR  FE
foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Bl FXEBRIRBE SRR EFTHETE
The directors meet periodically to analyse and formulate measures to AU KA EEAERRBZ SRR - EHE
manage each of these risks and they are summarised below. B T3 -
Foreign currency risk M mR
(i)  The Group has certain cash and cash equivalents denominated in () AEEFETREEEREEEMMANES
currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities BUFEREEER DR - AEER
to which they relate. The Group currently has no particular AT A R E R TRV ERINER R « A&
hedging vehicles to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk. It BB E RERIMERR T ER ERRIE
is the Group’s policy to monitor foreign exchange exposure and to BRI
make use of appropriate hedging measures when required.
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of TRANASEEEREARAHRELHF
each reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised IRRER SR EZ CRREES
assets or liability denominated in a currency other than the BENEERR - AXBEFEEHET A
functional currency of the entity to which they relate. The Group RE BIREERY R25IWE AE
is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of USD, RMB, EUR and GBP. BEREEUBT (RERSHARZNAER)
For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown FIRIR :
in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the end of
each reporting period as follows:
usD RMB EUR GBP
ESH ARM &t £
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TER TER THET TET

As at 30 June 2019 RZZ-hEXA=1H
Cash and cash equivalents R&KREEEY 8,451 136 - 30
As at 30 June 2018 RZB-NEXA=1H
Cash and cash equivalents & LREFEY 1,767 149 3 32
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BHERREZRRRAR (&)

25. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  25.
Policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued) MNEmk (&)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BEEAN

TRITRBEREEAEMB A MBS M
BIAENERT  AREREMESN (RE
BREERABZLTEEDMEL) LA
ERRHBTERNRABR MR EYR 26

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Hong
Kong Dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of

monetary assets and liability) and the Group's equity. R -
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in (decrease) Increase/
exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
ExEF/ BR B R A EmEm/
(TE) B/ 0Rd) (RL)*
|
% HK$’000 HK$'000
BAY THT TEL
2019 —E2-0F
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against HETRATERRE
RMB ARH 4 6 -
GBP ®E 4 1 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against & T XA T &% FE
RMB AR¥ ) (6) -
GBP 371 ) 1 -
2018 —E-N\F
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against HETAATERRE
RMB ARH 7 10 -
GBP £33 3 1 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against ~ fd & T XA T &% FE
RMB AEH ) (10) -
GBP HiE 3) M _
* Excluding accumulated losses * T EIEZES
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25.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and retention
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash in bank.

To manage the risk arising from cash in bank, the Group only transacts
with reputable banks which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There has no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions. The expected credit loss is close to zero.

For deposits and other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The management believes that
the expected credit loss is close to zero.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, all trade
and retention receivables are closely monitored on an ongoing basis to
minimise the Group’s exposure to bad debts.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer and by geographical.

The Group has concentration risk on its major customers (Note 4) which
accounted for 61.4% (2018: 29.4%) of its revenue for the year ended
30 June 2019. Besides, the Group also has concentration of credit risk
because 86% (2018: 19.9%) of trade receivables as at 30 June 2019
were due from the Group’s major customers as set out in note 4. The
Group’s major customers are reputable companies. The management of
the Group closely monitor the subsequent settlement of the customers.
In this regard, the management of the Group considers the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and retention receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group's different customer bases.
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25. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
As at 30 June 2019, the ageing of trade receivables is as follows:

BB R M

BHERREZRRRAR (&)

EERR (&)
RoB-NEAAZ+E BUESHEAZER
W :

2019

Neither past due nor impaired RARBHTARE
Less than 1 month past due TEB—EARS
1 to 3 months past due —E=AARH

More than 3 months past due but less than BR=EARHS
12 months ErEAT—EA
More than 1 year past due BR—FaH

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables. No provision for impairment loss for
trade and retention receivables was made as at 30 June 2019 as these
financial assets were considered to be low credit risk and expected
credit loss of these financial assets was immaterial.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances. The Group currently does not have a policy
on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank balances. The analysis is
prepared assuming that the bank balances at the end of each reporting
period were bank balances for the whole year. 25 basis points increase
or decrease represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates of bank balances. In management’s
opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
interest rate risk as the exposures at the end of each reporting period do
not reflect the exposures during each reporting period.
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Increase/(decrease) in profit for the year
— as a result of increase in interest rate
— as a result of decrease in interest rate

Financial liability included in trade and
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25. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates on bank balances had been 25 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the potential effect on the
Group's post-tax profit for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018 is as
follows:

F AR (RD)
~ I EF
~ I T

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans and overdrafts,
obligations under finance leases and trust receipt loans. The Group’s
policy is to maintain the Group at a net current asset position.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liability as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as
follows:

other payables ZERAR

The Group obtained a banking facility of HK$20,000,000 which
is secured by the unlimited guarantees from the holding company
of the Group and a charge over deposits at all times not less than
HK$8,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies. The Group shall
also maintain average current account and saving account balance not
less than HK$15,000,000. Up to the date of this report, the banking
facility has not yet been utilised.
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BHERREZRRRAR (&)

BREDN (&)
HIRITEBROFIE LA/ TRES RAALME
YREBEBEETE  AHAREHZE-T-NER=
- \FAAZTHLEFEZRBREHNEEY
Z2mMT:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000
TEL TR
100 111

(100) (111)

RBEEAR
AEEEBRALEHRBESHITR ERE
EoRpmEAR HIAGZRESMIARSR
AE (MEKE SR NI HANRRE L LXK
MEHRERE -

AEEZBREEEBREARTENIES  BE
BEARLERREERERESHEHRERRE
M2 BAHTE - AEEZBRREFARERNT
BEEFEKT -

RECATOREREN A5EERABNREH
HEERZIHBERANT :

2019 2018

On demand
BREXK
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAT
20,280 12,888

AEEER F20,000,0008 T RRTHE  ZHE
A BIER A REL AR IER KA AR
SBADINS,000,0008 THEMERSELEL
BRRABZERRE - RREMERTERER
LEERP £ R15,000,0008 T - EE AR
EHE BOBEHRYA -



25.

Notes to Financial Statements

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.

The directors review the capital structure periodically. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and risk associate with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance the overall capital structure of the Group through
the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the raising of new
bank loans.
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BXER
AEBEAEE I RERARRASERENE
BREXBLEBRRETLE  UXRHEEBY
SARERABREE

AEEERREARBYRBLERAZZIUR
RBEECRRBHELHE - DESIHEER
Rg AEEAREINTRRZKE - ARRE
REFABIHR -BE_Z-NFAAZTAER
“E-\FRAZTRLEFE  EeEEZAR.
BRKRR AL R o

AEENETEBERRERASSEMURAR
AR AEEER BREAMBREBENCE
1A RERZHER) -

ESTHEREARE - (FRAREEAN R B
EERESMAUREBEANMERR - RIEE
ENRE  ARERBAINBE  HERETUR
MERTERRTEARENBREAGERE -



Notes to Financial Statements

B R M

26. Holding Company Statement of Financial 2. ZRARZHBMRR R
Position
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at BRARARKREREER 2 BRRER 2 ER T
the end of the reporting period is as follows: Ik
2019 2018
Note HK$'000 HK$’000
i A% TR
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RE—HMBAT = 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BN B 1 Rl FR A 43,323 52,911
43,323 52,911
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments R TIE 288 299
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BN B 1 Rl FR A 8,576 8,557
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkReEED 629 110
9,493 8,966
Current liabilities REBRE
Other payables and accruals Ho A 5008 B 5 50R 55 15
Amounts due to shareholders FERIRERRIE —+ —*
Amount due to a subsidiary FERHIN B 2 Rl ZR A 2,497 2,457
2,552 2,472
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBBEFRE 6,941 6,494
NET ASSETS BERE 50,264 59,405
Capital and reserves BXRRE
Share capital R 24,000 24,000
Reserves A (@) 26,264 35,405
TOTAL EQUITY BER 50,264 59,405
* Represent amount of less than HK$1,000 * JEIER, 0008 TTHIFE o
”) Investment in a subsidiary represents unlisted investment, measured at cost. 0 RE—FIWERTEXLTRE (FHAGHE) -
On behalf of the board of directors REESD
Mr. Lee Wai Sang Mr. Leung Pak Yin
FREKE RaR%E
Director Director
EZ EZ
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26. Holding Company Statement of Financial 20. ZRARAZHBRRR (&)
Position (continued)
(a) A summary of the Company’s reserve is as (@ ZARARBEIHMENT:
follows:
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
i s E R ZiER st
|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT FEL THET
As at 1 July 2017 R=Z-tFtA-H 56,615 (3,181) 53,434
Loss and total comprehensive EEHRRZARALE
income for the year - (18,029) (18,029)
As at 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 RZEBE-NEXA=THEK
—2-\$tA-H 56,615 (21,210) 35,405
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBRZANALE
income for the year - (9,141) (9,141)
As at 30 June 2019 R=F-h&E~A=1H 56,615 (30,351) 26,264
27. Event after Reporting Date 7. BERBHRER
A subsidiary of the Group entered into a provisional agreement for sale REE-EHRBATIR -_E—NENA+/\BAET
and purchase on 18 April 2019 with an independent third party with VEREEEAL - £8,500,000/8 T2 R EWE—1E
the consideration of HK$8,500,000, in relation to the acquisition of a UREBZYE RBEEHE  WESBEEHEY
property in Hong Kong. Subsequent to the reporting date on 18 July RZE-NELATNBRK -
2019, the acquisition has been completed accordingly.
28. Approval of the Financial Statements 28. ROEMBER
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 BE-_F-NFXA EJrEﬁ;%EZﬁ/E.\Eﬁ%iE?%E
were approved for issue by the directors on 27 September 2019. RIE-NFNAZTLRMESHETIE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hEBRBRHE

ARERTRAMBFROFENREE  EERAEN
BEWT:

FEmEH

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is as follows:

GROUP RESULTS

Year ended 30 June

BEAR=tHLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET FTET
Revenue KA 95,336 71,541 99,094 132,719 130,578
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETER A (B1R)
Vet (9,606) (22,731) (20,860) 16,293 28,632
Income tax (expenses)/credit s (B%) /e (28) (209) 141 (4,785) (4,849)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BB) /5F (9,634) (22,940) (20,719) 11,508 23,783
Total comprehensive income UTALTEGEEFEEE
for the year attributable to: WAL :
Owners/Equity holders of AEBEBAN/
the Group ERFAA (9,387) (22,875) (20,793) 11,449 23,783
(9,387) (22,875) (20,793) 11,449 23,783
GROUP ASSETS AND LIABILITIES rEEEERERE
As at 30 June
RAR=1+H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FTET FTET FTET
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE 7,405 7,194 5,629 1,151 561
Current assets MEEE 54,274 61,351 90,052 47,292 48,525
Total assets HEE 61,679 68,545 95,681 48,443 49,086
Equity and liabilities BEREE
Total equity FEl I 36,443 45,830 68,705 8,883 9,459
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 644 810 759 103 49
Current liabilities MEEE 24,592 21,905 26,217 39,457 39,578
Total liabilities BERE 25,236 22,715 26,976 39,560 39,627
Total equity and liabilities EnRkafRas 61,679 68,545 95,681 48,443 49,086

Note: The summary of the consolidated results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the

Wit FEERRELEGBEFRENGEZENREE BERR

BZHEDHHRECTREELHFRE

Croup for the last five financial years are extracted from the published audited financial
statements.
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